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Established in 1901 under a Trust 
Deed signed by Andrew Carnegie, 
the income generated by his original 
endowment is to “be applied towards 
the improvement and expansion of 
the Universities of Scotland” and 
“rendering attendance at these 
Universities and the enjoyment of 
their advantages more available to 
the deserving and qualified youth of 
that country to whom the payment 
of fees might act as a barrier”. 
For over a century the Trust has 
fulfilled these aims – by funding 
student fees, scholarships and 
bursaries, and through the award of 
research grants. Operating across 
all academic disciplines the Trust 
encourages wider access to higher 
education and supports high quality 
scholarships and research in all the 
Scottish universities.
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In February, I greatly enjoyed attending, along with 
six fellow Trustees, the PhD Scholars’ Day, organised 
by the Trust at the Royal College of Physicians and 
Surgeons of Glasgow . These opportunities to meet 
with some of our grant recipients are always a great 
pleasure and are now being extended to include a 
wider range of the Andrew Carnegie community . 
In September, I joined those undergraduate 
students who, with the support of the Trust, had 
recently completed Carnegie Vacation Projects . 
This event was held in the Technology Innovation 
Centre at the University of Strathclyde and was 
also attended by Trustee Judith Sischy, several 
former grant recipients, and guest speaker Dr 
Ruaraidh McIntosh from Heriot-Watt University . 
The lively set of students presented their project 
posters with great skill and enthusiasm and took 
full advantage of the opportunity to build their 
professional networks .

In October 2018, we held our third annual strategy 
discussion, this time hosted by University of 
Stirling, during which the Trustees and staff 
reviewed progress since the previous meeting and 
identified new areas for development . Strategic 
priorities included: further development of the 
Andrew Carnegie Community, increased support 
for undergraduate students; and identifying 
ways by which the Trust’s financial resources 
could be enhanced . I am pleased to note below 
the continuing stream of donations . We remain 
extremely grateful for the financial support that 
we receive – from past grant recipients, from their 
families, and from others who recognise the value 
of the work that we do .

CHAIR’S INTRODUCTION

This year marked the hundredth anniversary of the 
death of Andrew Carnegie . I am confident that the 
Trust will use the funds gifted, initially by Carnegie 
and subsequently by our many other donors, to 
continue, over many more years, the support that 
we provide to the universities of Scotland and their 
students and which is so greatly valued .

In the course of this year, ten Principals of Scottish 
universities concluded their terms as Trustees: Prof 
Sir Peter Downes, Prof Peter Mathieson, Prof Sir 
Anton Muscatelli, Prof Pamela Gillies, Prof Richard 
Williams, Prof Clive Mulholland, Prof Petra Wend, 
Prof John Harper, Prof Gerry McCormac, and Prof 
Sir Jim McDonald . In addition three Nominated 
Trustees stood down: Richard Burns, Sir Iain 
McMillan and Ed Weeple . I am grateful to all who 
have served on the Board and particularly thank 
Sir Peter, Petra, Richard, Sir Iain and Ed for their 
hugely valuable work on the Trust’s Committees 
and Working Groups . I am delighted to welcome as 
a new Trustee: Mr Ray Perman .

I conclude by gratefully acknowledging the support 
of all my fellow Trustees and the excellent work of 
our office staff .

Dame Anne Glover  
DBE, FRSE, FASM

The year to 30 September 2019 saw further good progress 
for the Trust. Overall we distributed 469 grants to a total 
value of around £2.84 million. Details of all the activities we 
support can be found in the pages of this report, together with 
examples of some of the projects which we have funded and 
the many individuals who have benefited from our awards.
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Chair’s Introduction

LIST OF BENEFACTORS

Name Value Description

A C Boswell £120 Fee repayment, Glasgow, Science,1935-42

John Turner Bald £3,000 Fee repayment, Napier, Media, 1993-94

Sandra Dawson £300 Fee repayment, Glasgow, Veterinary Medicine, 1991-92 

Stuart Emslie £100 Fee repayment, Aberdeen, Engineering, 1993-95

Alexander Leslie 
Florence

£1,008 Legacy Fee repayment, Aberdeen, Veterinary Medicine 
1945-49

Bruce Gillies £258 Fee repayment, Heriot-Watt, MSc Mathematics,1995-1996

Jubin Santra £8,000 Fee Repayment, Edinburgh Napier, Accounting and 
Economics, 2006-2009

John Sawkins £240 Fee repayment, Scholar, Edinburgh, Economics, 1989-92

Frank Steven £12,000 Fee repayment, Scholar, St Andrews, PhD Biochemistry, 
1955-57

CAF (James Williamson) £154 Fee repayment, CAF donations

Gift aid repayment £5,165 Based on eligible donations £

£30,345



Strategy Review and Developments

Our Annual Strategy Discussion events, at which 
Trustees and Staff review the work of the Trust and 
how its grant programmes may be developed and 
adapted, are now firmly established . The strategy 
meeting at the start of the 2018-19 session was held 
at the University of Stirling in October 2018 .

Four important areas were identified: (i) building 
the Andrew Carnegie Community, (ii) identifying 
and removing barriers to UG studies, (iii) new 
initiatives and fundraising, and (iv) allocating 
Trustee champions .

The community building initiatives aim to add value 
for all of our beneficiaries whilst at the same time 
encouraging longer term support for the Trust . We 
have continued to develop the events that bring 
together students to present the work they have 
been undertaking and to provide opportunities 
for networking . Details of this year’s PhD Scholars 
Day and Vacation Scholars’ meeting are presented 
below . The latter event successfully brought 
together undergraduate grant recipients with 
Trustees, PhD Scholars, early career academics, 
and also involved their supervisors .

2018-19 saw a continuing increase in the number 
of undergraduate students receiving Tuition 
Fee Grants – up by a further 50% . The Trustees 
were keen to ensure that the impact of this, and 
related, undergraduate-support schemes should 
be maximised . To this end, a Working Group was 
created to review this area of the Trust’s mission 
and bring forward proposals as to how our support 
for undergraduate students might be improved and 
developed further . The Group identified a series of 
proposals in the course of the year and put them 
to the 2019 Strategy Meeting for initial discussion .

The Trust continues to receive donations and 
legacies from former grant recipients and other 
supporters – for which it is extremely grateful . It is 
anticipated that the report from the Undergraduate 
Student Support Group may identify areas for 
future fundraising .

With regard to the final action from last year’s 
strategy review, I am pleased to report that a 
number of Trustees have put themselves forward 
as “champions” for specific areas of our work .

Charter Review

This year saw the conclusion of the Charter 
review that was initiated in 2016 . The main 
changes concerned: (i) the wording with respect 
to student eligibility for grants; (ii) broadening of 
the conditions under which additional support 
can be provided to undergraduate students; (iii) 
a reduction of the number of Trustees, from 29 to 
14; and (iv) removing limitations on the types of 
donation that could be accepted . At a meeting of 
the Privy Council, held on the 12th December 2018, 
Her Majesty The Queen approved the grant of a 
Supplementary Charter to the Trust, adopting all 
our proposed amendments . This new Charter was 

SECRETARY’S REPORT
I am pleased to report another successful year for the Trust. Our support for 
undergraduate students continues to increase – reflecting a key element of 
Andrew Carnegie’s original vision – whilst our developing PhD scholarships and 
research grant schemes deliver on the other half of our mission – contributing 
to the growing strength of the universities of Scotland.

Details on our financial position and all the purposes to which we put the Trust’s 
income are provided below and in the body of this Report.
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Trustee, Sir Ian MacMillan with  
RIG Recipient, Dr Joe Smith
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sealed on the 3rd April 2019 – the date on which it 
came into effect . The document and seal are now 
held in the Trust’s office, Andrew Carnegie House, 
Dunfermline .

Trustees

With the new Charter in place, the AGM, held in 
May 2019, completed the transition to the reduced 
Board size: nine Nominated Trustees plus five 
from the Principals of the Scottish universities .  
Richard Burns, Sir Iain McMillan and Ed Weeple 
stepped down, together with the Ex-Officio, 
Principal Trustees: Prof Sir Peter Downes, Prof 
Peter Mathieson, Prof Sir Anton Muscatelli, Prof 
Pamela Gillies, Prof Richard Williams, Prof Clive 
Mulholland, Prof Petra Wend, Prof John Harper, 
Prof Gerry McCormac, and Prof Sir Jim McDonald . 
One new Trustee was welcomed: Mr Ray Perman . 
Details of all our Trustees can be found at the end 
of this Annual Report .

Grants and Scholarships

In the course of the year 2018-19, the Trust 
distributed a total of £2 .84m in grants and awards 
– up around 10% on the previous year .

Through Tuition Fee and Hardship Grants, we were 
able to fund 241 undergraduate students who were not 
eligible for SAAS financial support . This figure is, once 
again, up on the previous year (164) .  Undergraduate 
students were also supported through the award of 
110 Carnegie Vacation Scholarships .

During the year, 97 Carnegie Research Incentive 
Grants, to a total value of £896,740, were made 
to academics in Scottish universities . The second 
grant round under this scheme included an 
adjustment to the maximum value of award that 
could be sought – increasing it from £10k to £15k . 
We have also supported 49 PhD Scholarships 
this year . Further details on all these schemes are 
presented later in the Report .

PhD Scholars’ Day

PhD Scholars’ Day

On 28th February 2019 36 new and continuing 
Carnegie PhD Scholars attended our annual 
Scholars’ gathering . The event, held at The Royal 
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow, 
included poster sessions for first-year Scholars and 
research presentations for those students further 
along with their PhD studies .

We were delighted to welcome back former 
Carnegie Scholar, Dr Marc Reid who talked about his 
own experiences during and since completing his 
PhD . His talk focused on ‘Imposter Syndrome’ and 
on the importance of setbacks in the development 
of his research career . Marc undertook his PhD at 
The University of Strathclyde, graduating in 2015 .

A judging panel, comprising Sir Iain McMillan, 
Professor Sally Mapstone, Dr Alison Fielding, 
Professor Andy Walker and Dr John Thompson, 
awarded the prize for the Best Poster to Laura 
Blaikie of Robert Gordon University .

A separate judging panel, including Professor 
Dame Anne Glover, Professor Nigel Seaton, 
Judith Sischy, Sara Parkin, Dr Marc Reid and Gavin 
Macauley, awarded the Best Presentation prize to 
Vitalijs Brejevs, University of Glasgow .

The People’s Choice awards (voted on by the student 
themselves) went to Lois Wilson, University of 
Edinburgh (Best Poster) and to Margarita Kanevski, 
University of Edinburgh (Best Presentation) .

4
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Vacation Scholars’ Event

On 3rd September 2019 we welcomed 87 Vacation 
Scholars (out of 110 grant recipients) to our second 
Carnegie Vacation Scholarships Event held at 
The Technology and Information Centre (TIC) in 
Glasgow .

The event featured poster presentations by 
scholars from each of the Scottish universities, 
detailing the aims, objectives and outcomes of 
their summer research projects . Participants were 
welcomed by our Chair, Prof Dame Anne Glover, 
while Dr Ruaraidh McIntosh (Carnegie Vacation 
Scholar Alumni) gave a keynote address in which he 
described how the experience he acquired during 

his Vacation Scholarship fuelled his ambition to 
become an academic researcher .

Judging panels, comprising Trustees, members of 
staff, and former/current Carnegie Grant Holders, 
reviewed the posters, listened to the Scholars’ 
presentations and quizzed them about their 
research .

They awarded Best Poster prizes to: Toluwanimi 
Olatunji (UWS); Boyko Nikolov (Strathclyde); Robyn 
Gee (Abertay); and Conor Nally (Edinburgh) . The 
students selected the poster by Bethany Martin 
(Strathclyde) for their People’s Choice Award .

Vacation Scholars’ Poster Competition

James Puchowski & Prof Peter Mathieson Dame Anne Glover, Ross Paterson  
& Prof Sir Anton Muscatelli

University visits

On Monday 17th December 2018, together with 
Dame Anne Glover, I visited the University of 
Edinburgh for the Robertson Medal presentation . 
In the year 2018-19, two medals were awarded 
– the one in the Arts, Humanities and Social 
Sciences went to James Puchowski, PhD Scholar in 
Linguistics . We were joined by Principal Mathieson 

for the presentation . The second Robertson Medal, 
awarded in Science, Engineering & Technology, 
was presented to Ross Paterson, PhD Scholar in 
Mathematics and Statistics at the University of 
Glasgow on Tuesday 8th January 2019 . On that 
occasion, Dame Anne, Patricia and myself were 
hosted by Principal Anton Muscatelli .
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Centenary Celebrations

In August 2019 a number of events in Dunfermline 
and the USA marked the centenary of the death 
of Andrew Carnegie . On Sunday 11th August, a 
commemorative wreath was laid at the statue of 
Andrew Carnegie in Pittencrieff Park . Carnegie 
gifted the park to the people of Dunfermline, his 
birthplace, in 1903 and it is held in trust by the 
Carnegie Dunfermline Trust . Wreaths were laid 
at the Carnegie statue by: The Lord Lieutenant of 
Fife; Provost of Fife; Ian Wilson, Chair Carnegie 
Dunfermline Trust; Vartan Gregorian, President, 
Carnegie Corporation of New York; and William 
Thomson, descendant of Andrew Carnegie .

On Monday 12th August, the Tiffany Window – 
that Carnegie had commissioned in 1913 in memory 
of his parents – was dedicated in the Abbey 
Church, finally fulfilling Carnegie’s original wish for 
its location . Having been initially rejected by the 
Abbey, the window has spent time in Dunfermline’s 
Carnegie Hall and, most recently, in Andrew 
Carnegie House .

Ahead of the dedication, the window underwent 
extensive restoration work .  The specially designed 
accessible location in the Abbey will be the focus 
of a new contemplative space . 

Both of the commemorative events were attended 
by a wide cross section of Scottish and American 
representatives of the Trusts and foundations 
created by Andrew Carnegie as well as family 
descendants of Andrew Carnegie himself . The 
events were jointly funded by the three Carnegie 
Trusts based in Dunfermline . Representing the 
Universities Trust at the wreath laying were Prof 
Andy Walker, Dr Patricia Krus and Sarah Huxtable . 
They were joined the next day by Trustee, Ray 
Perman for the Tiffany Window dedication and the 
subsequent lunch .

As part of the centennial events in Dunfermline, 
a press conference was called to release the 
names of the 2019 recipients of Carnegie Medals of 
Philanthropy . The announcement was made at the 
Andrew Carnegie Birthplace Museum by Vartan 
Gregorian, President of the Carnegie Corporation 
of New York . The nine medallists embody the 
spirit of giving set forth by Andrew Carnegie, 
each having had significant and lasting impact 
on a particular field, nation, or the international 
community . Among the most charitable and 
visionary philanthropists in the world, the 
medallists’ generosity has influenced a wide range 
of issues, including education, the environment, 
scientific research, arts and culture, healthcare, and 

Wreath laying at Andrew Carnegie Statue on Centenary of his death
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technology . Included in the 2019 list of medallists, 
and who also spoke at the press conference, was 
Scottish philanthropist, Sir Ian Wood KT GBE . Sir Ian 
was being recognised for his support of economic 
and educational development, both in the UK and 
overseas, through The Wood Foundation .

Tiffany Window Dedication ceremony at Dunfermline Abbey Church

The other medallists are:

Anne G . Earhart, U .S .A ., Marisla Foundation

Mellody Hobson and George Lucas, U .S .A .,  
George Lucas Family Foundation

Marie-Josée and Henry R . Kravis, U .S .A .,  
The Marie-Josée and Henry R . Kravis Foundation

Morton L . Mandel, U .S .A ., Jack, Joseph, and 
Morton Mandel Foundation

Robert F . Smith, U .S .A ., Fund II Foundation

Leonard Tow, U .S .A ., The Tow Foundation

These philanthropists were awarded their medals 
at a ceremony, hosted by the Carnegie Corporation 
of New York, in October 2019, at the New York 
Public Library .
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Office Developments 

Amongst various developments, a major project 
this year was to refresh the Trust’s website . This 
exercise was completed in May 2019 and our new 
internet presence appears to have been well 
received .

Office Staff

I gratefully acknowledge the dedication and hard 
work of all our staff: Patricia Krus – our Manager, 
Kate Ellis – our Bursar, Grants Officer John 
Thompson and Administrator Sarah Huxtable . 
Congratulations to Sarah on her marriage in June 
2019 . Thanks are also due to our former staff 
member, Diane Stewart, who has ably filled in with 
occasional work on those occasions when some 
extra effort was required .

Prof Andy Walker, 
Secretary & Treasurer

Dippy Lego Build in the Andrew Carnegie Birthplace Museum

Other Events

Marking the arrival of the replica skeleton of Diplodocus Carnegii at the Kelvingrove Gallery in Glasgow, 
during the summer, the Birthplace Museum in Dunfermline mounted a Lego dinosaur building event . The 
Universities Trust was pleased to support the Dunfermline Trust in its organisation of this educational 
public event . Andrew Carnegie funded the extraction of the original fossilised dinosaur bones in Wyoming 
and subsequently gifted several replica skeletons of “Dippy” to European heads of state .
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SUMMARY STATISTICS FOR 2018-19

865 
APPLICATIONS 

RECEIVED

 469 
AWARDS 

MADE

17 

INSTITUTIONS 
SUPPORTED

Undergraduate Fees Carnegie Vacation Scholarships Carnegie PhD Scholarships

Hardship FundCarnegie Research Incentive Grants Carnegie Research Workshops Grants

14%

9%

40%

32%

3%
2%

FUNDING 

BY SCHEME 

2018-19

ACTIVITY REPORT

The Trust aims to support the very best students and researchers in the 
Scottish universities through a portfolio of grants open to undergraduate or 
postgraduate students and academic staff.

The following sections provide an overview of the awards made and report 
on the progress of existing awards during the financial year under review.

Undergraduate Fees Carnegie Vacation Scholarships Carnegie PhD Scholarships

Hardship FundCarnegie Research Incentive Grants Carnegie Research Workshops Grants

14%

9%

40%

32%

3%
2%
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APPLICATION NUMBERS AND SUCCESS RATES

Scheme Applications  
Received

Awards  
made

Success  
rate

Undergraduate Fee Assistance 287 242 83 .6%

Carnegie Vacation Scholarships 251 110 49 .6%

Carnegie PhD Scholarships 59 18 30 .5%

Carnegie Research Incentive Grants 262 97 37 .0%

GENDER BALANCE BY SCHEME

Female Male Prefer not to say Other

Undergraduate 

Tuition Fees
61.2%

36.3%

2.5
%

2.5
%

Carnegie

Vacation 

Scholarships

49%
47%

3
%

Carnegie

Postgraduate

 Funding

72%

28%

Carnegie

Research 

Incentive 

Grants

46%
49%

5%

1
%
1

%
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Rene Dipnarine

UNDERGRADUATE FUNDING

Undergraduate Fee Assistance provides tuition fee grants to 
students ineligible for government funding due to prior study 
or residency status. Carnegie Vacation Scholarships promote 
and develop research skills and experience in Scotland’s 
undergraduate students.

352 
AWARDS 

MADE



KEY STATISTICS

242 

AWARDS  
MADE

98% 
OF STUDENTS 

STUDYING  
FULL TIME

60.6% 
OF AWARDS 
TO FEMALE 
STUDENTS

26.3% 
RECEIVED 

ADDITIONAL 
HARDSHIP 

GRANTS

£13,508 
AVERAGE 

ANNUAL INCOME 
OF AWARD 
HOLDERS*

*This figure is based on the annual income before income tax .

UNDERGRADUATE FEE ASSISTANCE BY UNIVERSITY

GENDER BALANCE OF UNDERGRADUATE FEE ASSISTANCE 

Female Male Prefer not to say

Applied

60.3%
37.3%

Awarded

61.2%

2.5%

36.3%

2.5%2.4%2.4%
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AWARD HOLDER INTERVIEWS

SIMONE SHERRIE, UNIVERSITY OF THE  
WEST OF SCOTLAND, ACCOUNTANCY

I cannot thank the Trust enough for helping with my first year of tuition fees, 
relieving a great deal of stress and I can now apply for SAAS for the rest of 
my course . My first year of accounting went really well, I have completed each 
module and finished with the grades AAAABB for the academic year . 

The Trust’s funding gave me the opportunity to return to higher education for 
a fresh start and the chance to study at the University of the West of Scotland . 
The university have been very friendly and welcoming throughout the whole 
academic session and has offered a vast amount of support beneficial to me . 
They encourage students to get involved with the university and the student’s 
association which introduced me to the accounting society where I could receive 
tutoring from workshops, attend test centres and talks with guest speakers . Tutors are also very supportive in 
helping students gain internships or summer placements . As a whole, my experience of returning to university 
has been very positive and I have received a great deal of help with settling in and gaining my confidence back . 
I am confident that I have chosen the right place to study and that my university will continue to support me 
through my degree .

RUTH HOWARD, UNIVERSITY OF STIRLING,  
ENGLISH

I graduated from University of Stirling on 25th June 2019 with a First class BA 
(Hons) in English Studies . I returned to University of Stirling in September 
2019 to start a Masters in Creative Writing . I also attended the Trust’s Strategy 
event at Stirling University in October 2018 and spoke about the impact the 
Trust’s support has had my studies and family life . Giving the speech was a 
great experience . I really appreciated being able to express my thanks to the 
Carnegie Trust members who made my first year at Stirling possible .

TOM ADAMSON, UNIVERSITY OF DUNDEE,  
SOCIAL WORK

After 5 years out of education, whilst working in mental health services, I 
realised that I wanted to work with people in the long-term, in a sector that was 
not driven by profit . A social work degree allowed me to learn more about the 
theories and structures of power, relationships, and human development that 
would enable me to do that . However, without the support I received from the 
Carnegie Trust, it would not have been possible for me to complete my degree . 
Quite simply, I would not have been able to afford it . I’m now qualified and in a 
social work post .

Simone Sherrie

Ruth Howard

Tom Adamson
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SAIRA BAIG, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW,  
MEDICINE AND SURGERY

My interest and love for science led me to follow my ambition to study medicine . 
I feel being a doctor gives you a huge responsibility by making a significant 
difference to people’s lives . It also gives you the opportunity to contribute to 
improving others’ lives . Medicine is a life-long learning profession and with 
research evolving all the time you can make a massive difference to the world .

I was introduced to the Carnegie Trust scholarships through my university . I 
decided to apply for the scholarship and was successful . I feel privileged to be 
given this opportunity to study a subject I am so passionate about .

ROBERT GILFILLAN, UNIVERSITY OF THE  
WEST OF SCOTLAND, ACCOUNTING

I will always be very thankful and grateful for everything the Trust has given me 
and the motivation that it has given me to do well in my studies .

Everybody I have met at Carnegie events have been amazed that I have 
6 children, with a wife at college too, and how I still manage to maintain my 
high grades at university .  This is down to hard work but more importantly the 
funding I have received from the Trust has meant that I have managed to avoid 
having to work part time which has left me able to fully concentrate on my 
studies . 

HETTIGE THIRIMANNE, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
MEDICINE

Studying Medicine has been a lifelong ambition for me . This ambition was 
triggered at a young age by my mother’s health condition . Since then, my 
fascination with medicine has grown stronger . I have faced many hardships 
and had to overcome several barriers since I was young, however with the 
strength and support I got from those around me I was able to push through 
the hardships . 

My university introduced me to the Carnegie Trust and supported me with 
the application, which I am thankful for . I am grateful to the Carnegie Trust for 
funding me . Without the funding my ambition would have only been a dream as 
my immigration status makes me ineligible for SAAS funding .

Saira Baig

Robert Gilfillan

Hettige Thirimanne

14

Undergraduate Funding



KEY STATISTICS

251 
APPLICATIONS 

RECEIVED

110 
AWARDS  

MADE

49.6% 
SUCCESS  

RATE

15 
INSTITUTIONS 

SUPPORTED

CARNEGIE VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS

Carnegie Vacation Scholarships encourage students to gain research experience in the long summer vacation 
before their final year of study . In the 2018-19 round of funding, the number of applications rose significantly 
on the previous year . This increase is in part due to a slight change in the eligibility criteria to allow students 
from the EU and EEA undertaking the full length of their course in Scotland to apply for the scholarships .

VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS BY INSTITUTION

GENDER BALANCE OF VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS
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LINNEA JOHANSSON, QUEEN MARGARET 
UNIVERSITY, SOCIOLOGY

A sociological analysis of the efficacy of museum 
community engagement outreach programmes

The Carnegie Vacation Scholarship gave me the 
opportunity to dedicate time to engage with an 
academic area I am interested in: how taking part in 
museum community engagement outreach programmes 
impact their participants’ perceptions of museum space, 
art and artefacts . I especially valued having the time 
to familiarise myself with the topic, both through existing academic literature and, in particular, by 
speaking directly to those with experience in the area . It similarly gave me an insight into how the 
research process works; from writing a research proposal and designing the project to the collection 
and analysis of the data, as well as the subsequent presentation of the results . In all, it was a thoroughly 
enjoyable experience, which has led me on to further explore this area of research in my undergraduate 
dissertation and, hopefully, beyond that . 

ALEXIA KARAMOULA, UNIVERSITY OF ABERDEEN, 
CHEMISTRY

Modelling proton transport in new liquid crystal electrolytes.

I am very grateful for getting accepted for the Vacation Scholarship program . 
It was a great experience working on a real project and research subject 
including different professors and departments of the University . I have gained 
significant knowledge and insights concerning processes and challenges, and 
how to overcome them in order to continue with the project progression . 

My future plans definitely include further work and expansion in applications 
and improvements in the same subject area .

CAMERON MCELENEY, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
PHYSICS

Negative Refractive Regions within Natural Crystalline Materials

I didn’t believe it was possible to experience meaningful scientific 
research as an undergraduate . Not only was the Carnegie scholarship an 
immensely rewarding experience which further increased my passion for 
physics, but it led me to reconsider academia as a realisable career path .

The support of the Trust was what enabled my supervisor and I to pursue 
research into an emerging branch of optical physics, which culminated in 
the publication of a paper in the prestigious journal Optica .

Being able to take ownership of, and pride in, my work was invaluable boost of self-confidence in my 
own physics capabilities .

Linnea Johansson pictured with the judges

Alexia Karamoula

Cameron McEleney
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THOMAS GRAHAM, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
PHILOSOPHY

The Intrinsic Value of Democracy

The Carnegie summer scholarship enabled me to continue studying topics I 
love throughout the summer holidays . Since university term time spans only 
about two thirds of the year, it provided a great opportunity to engage in self-
directed study and continue doing what I enjoy at a time when I would not 
otherwise have been able to . 

At present, I am very much undecided as to whether I wish to pursue a career 
in academia . By giving me a taste of what such a career might be like, the 
scholarship also served as an invaluable test case on the question of which 
steps I want to take next . 

I am thus very grateful to the Trust for giving me this opportunity, and I wish them all the best for the future . 
Thanks very much!

Thomas Graham

GULSEVIM AYDIN, UNIVERSITY OF EDINBURGH, 
BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

A Microbial Defence-inspired Approach to Creating  
Chemo-compatible Cells for Industrial Biotechnology

As a chemistry student, even though I was interested in the interface of organic 
chemistry and synthetic biology, I had practically no experience in a biological 
research lab . This project gave me the opportunity to be part of a lab, where 
I could learn and use biological research techniques that were previously 
unfamiliar to me . I had the chance to be involved in the project from the 
beginning starting with the planning, and took the responsibility of the project . 

I am interested in a career in research and was thinking about applying for PhD 
studentships . The good experience I had this summer has made me even more eager for doing research . I have 
gained more confidence, and I believe that the experience and skills I have gained this summer will help me in 
this path . 

GARY LLOYD, UNIVERSITY OF THE HIGHLAND AND 
ISLANDS, ARCHAEOLOGY

An assessment of stone Neolithic Spatulate Tools  
from the Ness of Brodgar, Orkney.

My project involved the study of Neolithic stone tools recovered from the Ness 
of Brodgar, Orkney . The 5000-year-old site has been under excavation for the 
past 15 years and is renowned for its large ceremonial building complex . Known 
as stone spatulas, some of the tools I examined were previously unknown and 
are unique to the Ness of Brodgar . 

The Carnegie Vacation Scholarship gave me the opportunity to conduct 
primary research on a rare type of Neolithic stone tool . Though I was unable to 
determine the ultimate purpose for the tools, the insights I gained have answered a number of questions about 
stone tool production in Neolithic Orkney . This project not only provided a foundation for future work, it gave 
me invaluable experience in research project design and execution . Participating in the poster competition and 
seeing my fellow students’ projects was the icing on the cake . I thoroughly enjoyed the entire experience and 
have encouraged a number of my colleagues to apply for the Vacation Scholarship in the future .

Gulsevim Aydin

Gary Lloyd
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Trisha McAllister

POSTGRADUATE FUNDING

The prestigious Carnegie PhD Scholarships supports a limited 
number of graduates, who wish to pursue a PhD at an institution 
in Scotland. 18 

AWARDS 
MADE



KEY STATISTICS

59
 NOMINATIONS  

RECEIVED

18
 AWARDS  

MADE

10
 INSTITUTIONS  

SUPPORTED

CARNEGIE PhD SCHOLARSHIPS

With the inclusion of the Glasgow School of Art and the Royal Conservatoire of Scotland as eligible 
institutions, the total number of applications was raised to 64, to enable both institutions to submit 2 
nominations . The quota of nominations per university calculated on the basis of the number of PhD degrees 
awarded by each Scottish university over a period of 5 years up to 2012-13 . Each university is allowed 2 
nominations by default, plus a percentage of the remaining 30 places .

In March 2019, the Trust received 59 nominations . Following a review of the nominations, a selection panel 
was convened, comprising, Professor Faye Hammill (University of Glasgow), Professor Paul Hagan (Robert 
Gordon University), Professor Claire Wallace (University of Aberdeen), Professor Mary Orr (University of 
St Andrews), Professor John Roulston (CEO, Scimus Solutions Ltd), Professor Holger Nehring (University of 
Stirling), Professor Maggie Cusack (University of Stirling), Professor Douglas Neil (University of Glasgow), 
Dr Patricia Krus and Professor Andrew Walker (CTUS) .

A total of 18 awards were agreed, with a reserve list to fill any offers of scholarships declined by nominees . 
The highest numbers of awards were in Physical Science, followed closely by Biological Science and Arts 
& Humanities .

FIELD OF RESEARCH OF PhD AWARDS
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RESEARCH UPDATES FROM CONTINUING SCHOLARS

A total of 42 scholars were continuing their studies during the year under review, many of whom have 
been taking part in field work, publishing their research findings, presenting at international conferences 
or participating in public engagement activities . 

As usual, the continuing Carnegie scholars have participated in numerous research and training activities 
to further hone their skills and share their research findings with both academic and lay audiences . Alicia 
Núñez-García (Archaeology, University of Edinburgh) took part in two meetings of the European Stone 
Age Gathering, one in Germany and the other in Denmark . In addition, Alicia undertook a research stay at 
the German Archaeological Institute in Madrid and another with the Archaeology department, University 
of Lisbon . 

First year Carnegie Scholar, Alison Martin (School of Forestry, University of the Highlands & Islands) 
participated in The Royal Geographical Society (RGS) Annual Conference, presenting a paper during a 
specific session on the Role of trust in rural land governance . Her attendance was supported by an award 
from the Scottish Land Commission (SLC) . She produced and presented a poster on her research findings to 
date at a conference in the Western Isles entitled: A celebration of the 1919 Land Settlement Act (Scotland) .

Natalie Sinclair

Another Carnegie Scholar, Natalie Sinclair, 
a 2nd year Scholar in Marine Biology at 
the University of St Andrews, was also 
selected to attend the National Geographic 
Sciencetelling Bootcamp in Munich, Germany . 
Natalie has also been given the opportunity 
to contribute to outreach activities and 
resources for a whale song exhibition, which 
opened at the Dundee Science Centre on 
30th September 2019 . Natalie is responsible 
for evaluating the impact of the exhibition 
to collect data on both learning outcomes 
and changes in attitude of attendees of the 
exhibits . In addition to her public engagement 
activities, Natalie also secured a National 
Geographic Early Career Research Grant 
to conduct fieldwork in the Cook Islands in 
Summer 2019 . 
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Gergana Daskalova

Second year Scholar Gergana Daskalova (GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh) gave a highly commended 
talk at the British Ecological Society Annual Meeting in Birmingham and also attended the Macroecology 
conference in Wurzburg, Germany and the International Tundra Experiment Meeting in Parma, Italy where 
she, respectively, won the best poster award and the best talk award . In 2019, Gergana was awarded an 
Early Career Explorer Grant from the National Geographic Society to support a field expedition to the 
Arctic to conduct both scientific research and storytelling . During her time in the Canadian Arctic, Gergana 
presented her work to members of local communities such as the Elders and Youth Program on Qikiqtaruk-
Herschel Island . Gergana is eager to continue developing her science communication skills and she has 
been selected as an Early Career Explorer to take part in the National Geographic Sciencetelling Bootcamp 
in Munich, Germany . This week-long training takes place at the end of October 2019 and covers public 
speaking, video production, photography, social media and writing for impact .
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Callum Roberts, Carnegie Caledonian Scholar 
(Engineering, University of Strathclyde) attended 
the DAMAS 2019 conference in Porto from the 9-10 
of July 2019 . His paper “A comparative study on 
data manipulation in PCA-based structural health 
monitoring systems for removing environmental 
and operational variations” has since been 
published in a special edition journal for the 
conference . Callum also participated in a summer 
school on smart structures held in Rome . This 
allowed him to network with researchers at a 
similar point in their career as well as develop a 
broader knowledge of his subject area . 

Also in his second year, Jonathan Triffitt (History, 
University of St Andrews) spent several months 
undertaking field work in Germany, working 
in archives and libraries in Darmstadt, Worms, 
Stuttgart, Marbach, and Altshausen as well as 
Munich and Berlin . He has presented his preliminary 
findings at two conference, the German Historical 
Institute London Postgraduate Conference held in 
London in January 2019 and the German History 
Society Annual Conference at King’s College 
London in September 2019 .

Kelly Brown, a 2nd year Scholar in Chemistry 
at the University of Strathclyde, was successful 
in applying for further funding to facilitate a 
research visit to Deakin University in Melbourne . 
This gave her the opportunity to gain knowledge 
and acquire technical skills, which could not be 
developed at Strathclyde . Kelly was also selected 
out of hundreds of applicants throughout the UK 
to present her doctoral research to members of 
parliament and field experts at STEM for Britain 
held at Westminster in March 2019 .

Sarah Boyd, PhD Scholar in Publishing Studies at 
the University of Stirling presented a number of 
papers on her research into fanfiction . She gave 
a paper entitled ‘Will Write for Comments: How 
treating feedback as currency unbalances the 
fanfic community’ at the University of Sheffield’s 
Fantastic! Conference in April 2019 . This paper 
looked at how the fanfiction community’s 
perception of itself as a gift economy conceals 
a shadow market economy that is increasingly 
influencing the function and ideology of this 
community . The following month, Sarah discussed 
how fanfiction contributes to the cultural/literary 
conversation both by appropriating and remixing 
stories and by creating its own myths in a paper 
given at the Glasgow International Fantasy 
Conversations conference held at the University 
of Glasgow . 

Second year scholar Ronnie Mooney (Biomedical 
Sciences, University of the West of Scotland) 
took part in a number of events to increase public 
awareness of Acanthamoeba and the potential 
infections associated with the parasite which 
may lead to sight loss . Keen to inspire the next 
generation of future scientists, Ronnie used 
microscopy to show the parasite to the public . He 
ran a number of activities for children during the 
Super Science Festival and the Glasgow Science 
Festival which illustrated how cells work to spread 
infection or to fight against it . 

Profiles of all our current PhD Scholars are available 
to view on our website:

https://www .carnegie-trust .org/award-categories/
current-phd-scholars/?postType=alumni

Callum Roberts
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VIVA VOCE AND GRADUATIONS

Congratulations to the following PhD Scholars who graduated in 2018-19:

Dr Edwin Goi, 
History, 

University of St Andrews

“As a Carnegie scholar I have very much appreciated the travel funding available to me throughout 
my PhD. Attending conferences is crucial for building a network and I have been lucky enough to 
attend the biggest conference in my area, the International Conference on the Representations of 
Algebras, twice throughout my PhD. On both occasions, I learnt a huge amount, and last year, I was 
able to present my own research which put me in touch with some of the biggest names in my field. 
On both occasions, it was thanks to the Carnegie funding that I was able to attend and the experience 
has been extremely valuable to me.” 

Jennifer August

Dr Emma McDougall, 
Mathematics, 

Heriot-Watt University

Dr Feyisayo Olukoya, 
Mathematics, 

University of St Andrews

Dr Colin Reilly, 
English Language, 

University of Glasgow

Dr Jennifer August, 
Mathematics, 

University of Edinburgh
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“I thoroughly enjoyed the Carnegie Scholars’ Days with other Carnegie scholars, giving me the 
opportunity to discuss my research with like-minded people and network with fellow students. 
Moreover, I appreciated that fact that the alumni speakers were not academics, but rather Carnegie 
scholars who had gone on to successful careers in other sectors. The guest speakers I encountered 
at the Carnegie meet-and-greet days confirmed that there are a whole host of career opportunities 
outside the confines of academia, where jobs are becoming increasingly hard to come by. Many 
thanks to everyone at the Trust for their support and encouragement!” 

Katherine Bone

Dr Katherine Bone, 
English, 

University of St Andrews

Dr Rebecca Walker, 
Chemistry, 

University of Aberdeen

Dr Fraser McMillan, 
Government & Public Policy, 

University of Strathclyde
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Muhammad Idrees Ahmad,  
University of Stirling at our  

Annual Strategy Event

99 
AWARDS 

MADE

RESEARCH FUNDING

Aimed at Early Career Researchers, Carnegie Research Incentive Grants 
support small scale initial studies with the potential to lead to further research.

The Carnegie Research Workshops scheme aims to support the advancement 
of new research ideas and the exchange of skills and expertise by funding the 
organisation and delivery of research workshop programmes addressing issues 
at the forefront of current scientific, technological, environmental, intellectual, 
cultural or societal developments.
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262 

APPLICATIONS  
RECEIVED

97 

AWARDS  
MADE

37% 

SUCCESS  
RATE

£10,064 

AVERAGE  
GRANT VALUE

14 

INSTITUTIONS  
SUPPORTED

CARNEGIE RESEARCH INCENTIVE GRANTS

The Carnegie Research Incentive Grants scheme continues to attract high quality proposals from all the 
Scottish universities . Projects are assessed by peer reviewers recruited across the Scottish academic 
community and beyond . Over eleven hundred academics are now registered as Carnegie Research 
Assessors with additional individuals recruited for specific proposals on an ad-hoc basis . 

Ahead of the March 2019 submission deadline, the maximum award value was increased from £10,000 to 
£15,000, resulting in a steep rise in the number of applications, from 112 in September 2018 to 150 in March 
2019 .
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DR FIONA HENDERSON, GLASGOW CALEDONIAN 
UNIVERSITY, SOCIAL SCIENCES

The emergence of social innovation in social enterprise

Scotland has witnessed the organic emergence of potentially 
transformative social innovations addressing the challenge of caring for 
older people . However, there is little academic understanding about how 
such emergence occurs . This project addressed this gap in two ways . 
Firstly, it developed the Social Innovation Definitional Matrix (SIDM) 
from a 5-criteria European Commission definition of social innovation . 
The SIDM presents social enterprises with a tangible framework for 
evaluating whether their activities could be categorised as social 
innovations . Secondly, data on facilitators and constraints supporting or preventing the emergence 
of social innovation in social enterprises was collected .

Through interviews with social entrepreneurs and stakeholders from social enterprise, the third 
sector, NHS, social work and the Scottish Government . All evaluated the SIDM positively . 

Participants identified positive factors: a) pre-existing entrepreneurial skill; b) wide social networks; 
c) excellent communication with customers; d) a high media profile; e) access to expert staff; and f) 
committed volunteers . Constraints to the emergence of social innovation were a) limited financial 
resources; b) a lack of business experience; c) unexpected rapid growth; and d) a lack of support 
from other organisations, including funding bodies .

DR CHERYL MCGEECHAN, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
HISTORY

A Distinctly Scottish Surgeon?  
Uncovering Police Surgery in 19th Century Scotland

‘A Distinctly Scottish Surgeon’ undertook the first scoping project of 
its kind on police surgery in nineteenth century Scotland . Working in 
collaboration across Human Geography at the University of Glasgow (Dr 
Cheryl McGeachan) and the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons 
of Glasgow (Ross McGregor and Kirsty Earley), the work identified a 
distinctive Scottish dimension to the under-examined figure of the police 
surgeon and its uncharted histories and geographies . The precursor 
to the forensic medical officer, the police surgeon played a significant role in fusing medical and 
legal worlds during the nineteenth century, yet very little was previously known about its practice . 
Through in-depth archival research, across a number of institutions, the project has uncovered the 
unknown practices of the 19th century police surgeon in three key cities across Scotland using three 
pioneering Scottish surgeons as case study examples – Francis Ogston (Aberdeen), Henry Littlejohn 
(Edinburgh) and William Macewen (Glasgow) .

This project has developed a ground-breaking understanding of the key practices of Scottish police 
surgery and has begun to uncover the geographies of the practice in Scotland and we hope to 
continue to develop this work, encompassing rural locations, and extending through to the 20th 
century and the rise of forensic medicine . 

Since completing the project, we have continued to collaborate and are currently writing academic 
papers, developing new research grants and piloting a number of our outputs with different 
communities, including an interactive map of police surgeon cases in 1870s Glasgow . 

HIGHLIGHTED PROJECTS FROM 2018-19

Dr Fiona Henderson

Dr Cheryl McGeechan
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DR ADRIANO LAMEIRA, UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS, 
BIOLOGICAL ANTHROPOLOGY

Exploring the possibility of speech-like vocal behaviour in chimpanzees

Speech is a human hallmark and features a 2-7 Hz rhythm across all world 
languages . Beside humans, speech-like rhythm has been identified 
in the vocal signals of macaques, geladas, gibbons and orangutans, 
suggesting that human speech rhythm stems from deep within the 
primate lineage . However, there’s still no evidence that the African 
great apes produce signals at speech-like rhythm, leaving an open 
gap of ~10mya between speech and its presumed primate precursor 
signals . We investigated the rhythm of lip-smacks, an affiliative vocal 
signal, in 4 chimpanzee populations and found that it exhibits a speech-like rhythm, thus, closing the 
bridge between the rhythm of human speech and nonhuman primates’ vocal signals . Furthermore, 
we found inter-individual and inter-population variation in lip-smack rhythmic signatures, suggesting 
that chimpanzee lip-smacks are flexible and likely learnt, supporting another critical point in the 
current hypothesis for the evolution of speech-rhythm: speech-like rhythm is learnt in great apes . We 
have clarified how speech-like rhythm evolves in the human lineage; however, much remains to be 
explored . It is not known what other chimpanzee vocal signals also exhibit this rhythmic signature or 
whether it is present in Bonobos and Gorillas, and this project opened doors to future research on 
this field . It is our intention to pursue this research questions in the near future .

We are now in the final phase of preparation of the paper reporting the research funded by this 
grant . When ready, we will submit the paper to a high-impact peer-reviewed scientific journal . The 
paper will be signed by the PI, Research Assistant and all collaborators: Adriano R . Lameira, André S . 
Pereira, Katie E . Slocombe, Catherine Hobaiter, Eithne Kavanagh .

DR STEFANIE REHER, UNIVERSITY OF STRATHCLYDE, 
POLITICAL SCIENCE 

The Role of Disability in Evaluations of Political Candidates

Whilst almost 1 in 5 people in the UK and around the world are disabled, 
politicians with visible or disclosed disabilities are few and far between . 
The potential negative consequences of this under-representation are 
manifold and highlighted by the demand ‘Nothing About Us Without 
Us’ . Yet, the reasons for the low presence of disabled people in politics 
are not well understood . 

My project focuses on one key aspect: voter perceptions: Do voters 
consider disabled candidates less competent and suitable for elected office? Or, to the contrary, do 
they ‘reward’ disabled candidates at the ballot box, valuing their experience of overcoming barriers 
and assumed expertise in particular policy areas? To answer these and other questions, I conducted 
a survey experiment in which a representative sample of the British public evaluates fictitious 
candidates with varying characteristics . 

The findings reveal that while voters use stereotypes to evaluate disabled candidates, these are not 
necessarily negative . However, important differences exist between disability types, with mental 
health issues perceived as more problematic than physical impairments . The study helped me 
develop a larger project on the same topic, for which I was awarded a three-year New Investigator 
Grant from the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) .

Dr Adriano Lameira

Dr Stefanie Reher
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DR ALEXEY GANIN, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
CHEMISTRY

Development of basal-plane active layered transition metal 
dichalcogenides for electrocatalytic hydrogen evolution reactions

Renewably-generated power is plentiful, but there remains a problem: it 
must be used after generation or else be wasted . To make the most of 
renewable electricity we must find ways to store the excess for later use . 
An attractive way to do this is storing generated energy as a chemical 
fuel through electrochemical splitting of water to its components H2 
and O2 . This process is facilitated by a catalyst which ideally should be 
durable and cheap . Finding a suitable catalyst is not an easy task as it 
requires trial and error screening of myriad compounds . Now, researchers at the University of Glasgow 
funded by the Trust have shown that the catalytic performance of a 2D material could be improved 
dramatically by applying a series of high current pulses . Researchers in the Ganin group validated 
this unprecedented activation process by additional computational and experimental studies which 
highlighted that the key to optimization was the electronic structure of the activated material . This 
opens up a practical method of designing and consequently optimizing the electrocatalytic water 
splitting . For example, one could control the activation process through advanced technologies such 
as machine learning . Artificial intelligence could replace the operator and search for parameters that 
could deliver the optimal electronic structure and thus, maximize the electrochemical performance . 
The optimization process could be further improved through a utilization of an electrochemical Raman 
cell . The cell (developed during the project and is shown in the picture) allowed Jessica McGlynn to 
monitor the spectroscopic characteristics (and thus the electronic structure of the catalyst) in real 
time as the reaction progresses .

Jessica McGlynn,  
lead author of paper

DR LONNEKE GODDIJN-MURPHY, UNIVERSITY  
OF THE HIGHLANDS & ISLANDS, GEOPHYSICS

Spectral remote sensing of marine plastic litter

Dr Lonneke Goddijn-Murphy investigated remote sensing 
methods for monitoring marine plastic pollution . Sunlight 
reflectance measurements in the visible to infrared spectrum 
have so far given the best results . Dr Lonneke Goddijn-
Murphy developed a theoretical light transfer model, based 
on geometrical optics and the spectral signatures (colour) 
of plastic and seawater . Her aim was to verify this model 
and assess the possibilities for a practical remote sensing 
method . Following a successful application, the NERC Field Spectroscopy Facility loaned Lonneke a 
hyperspectral spectroradiometer - an instrument that takes detailed light measurements . She took a 
variety of measurements at sea and in a pond (see photo), as well as in the laboratory, for a selection 
of common plastic litter items . Using the model, Lonneke evaluated how their chemical composition, 
as well as transparency, shape, size, and surface roughness controlled light reflectance . The results 
have been presented in two publications and at 2018 MASTS annual science conference . 

Since the project ended, the SCOR Working Group 153, Floating Litter and its Oceanic TranSport 
Analysis and Modelling (FLOTSAM), invited Lonneke to take part in a working group meeting . She 
has also co-authored two community papers on observation of plastic pollution with another one 
currently under review . She has started to look into the possibilities of thermal infrared remote 
sensing of marine plastic pollution and published a paper about her findings . Lonneke submitted 
an idea to take this forward to the Open Space Innovation Platform of the European Space Agency 
(ESA) . ESA selected this idea and invited Lonneke to submit a full proposal . 

Dr Lonneke Goddijn-Murphy
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CONTINENTAL CLIMATE CHANGE:  
SIMPLE MODELS TO UNDERSTAND THE FUTURE

Collaborators:  
Dr Michael Byrne (University of St Andrews),  
Prof Gabriele Hegerl (University of Edinburgh),  
Prof Jack Scheff (University of North Carolina at Charlotte) and 
Marie MacRae (University of St Andrews)

Climate change is the critical challenge facing modern societies . The 
impacts of global warming will predominantly be experienced on 
continents, through increased risks of droughts, wildfires and flooding . 
The 2018 summer heatwave, during which Scotland experienced its 
hottest day on record, is an ominous portent of the future . However, our scientific understanding of 
continental climate change remains surprisingly limited with numerous fundamental questions still 
unsolved .

The Carnegie Research Workshop to be held at the University of St Andrews in June 2020 will define 
the agenda for the next decade of continental climate change research . Bringing together leading 
experts from Scotland and around the world who focus on the physical mechanisms controlling 
continental climate, we will: 

• Showcase the state-of-the-art theoretical, modelling and observational work currently being 
carried out to understand the future of continental climates .

• Define the key questions for the next decade of research .

• Assemble new, interdisciplinary collaborations to tackle the major challenges of continental 
climate change .

The most important outcome from the Workshop will be a new network of leading Scottish and 
international researchers working together on the key questions in continental climate change . 
Continental climate scientists come from a variety of disciplines including climate science, hydrology, 
meteorology, ecology, geography, geology and physics . The Workshop presents a unique opportunity 
to assemble the leading researchers from across these disciplines so as to boost interactions 
between the individuals and institutions at the forefront of the field . The enhanced interactions 
among experts that the Workshop stimulates will promote new collaborations and help identify 
promising avenues for the next decade of continental climate research .

CARNEGIE RESEARCH WORKSHOP GRANTS

The Carnegie Research Workshop Grants scheme was piloted in academic year 2018/19 with two awards 
being granted . The Carnegie Research Workshops scheme aims to support the advancement of new 
research ideas and the exchange of skills and expertise by funding the organisation and delivery of 
research workshop programmes addressing issues at the forefront of current scientific, technological, 
environmental, intellectual, cultural or societal developments . Proposed workshops should focus on a topic 
of key relevance both to Scotland and globally with the aim of enabling the Scottish academic community 
to develop and strengthen its international leadership position .

As this is a new scheme, the Trust ran a number of information sessions over November 2018 and January 
2019 in the Boardroom at our office in Andrew Carnegie House, Dunfermline, which were well attended .

Academics interested in applying for Workshop funding have been encouraged to discuss their ideas 
informally with the Trust and obtain some feedback . In the first year of this scheme, 40 Expressions of 
Interest were received, of which 4 were invited to submit full proposals . Out of the 4 full proposals, the 
following two workshop proposals were awarded funding:

Dr Michael Byrne
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ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND THE  
INTERNATIONAL RULE OF LAW

Collaborators:  
Prof Nehal Bhuta (University of Edinburgh),  
Prof Christopher Johnson (University of Glasgow),  
Dr Liz McFall (University of Edinburgh),  
Dr Mark Sprevak (University of Edinburgh) and  
Dr Rebecca Sutton (University of Edinburgh)

This series of three multi-disciplinary, problem-focused research 
workshops will explore the relationship between international law and 
emerging applications of artificial intelligence (AI) . The workshops will 
focus on the following three areas: 

• AI and the battlefield

• AI and welfare policy

• AI and refugee determination and border control

These are areas in which fundamental human values are at stake – decisions over life and death in 
war, minimum standards of social protection and the legal entitlement to asylum from persecution 
and conflict . If AI is to help us in these areas then we must ensure that it is capable of being used in 
accordance with basic global norms . 

The workshops will explore a number of questions . First, how can legal rules (that have been written 
for humans) be operationalised for use in an AI system? Secondly, to what extent should human 
operators act as checks on the AI system’s behaviour? Thirdly, how can we help human operators 
understand their legal duties when working with an AI system? Finally, how should we understand 
accountability when the AI system makes an error in its decision-making? Each workshop will 
consider case studies based on actual-existing AI technology or in-development platforms . This will 
enable participants to investigate how the AI technology works and how human are expected to 
interact with it . This will then open up deeper discussions about the place of law, the role of human 
judgment, and the design of frameworks for accountability . 

The first workshop, concerning AI and refugee determination and border control, will be held on 16th 
and 17th March 2020 . Participants include policy makers, computer scientists, technologists, industry 
representatives and scholars from across disciplines (law, informatics, philosophy, social science and 
sociology) .

The workshops will create an interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral and international network to help build 
on Scotland’s world-leading information technology development capacity by addressing the legal 
and ethical challenges of AI . 

Prof Nehal Bhuta
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT

TRUST CONSTITUTION  
AND POWERS

The Trust was founded by Andrew Carnegie 
through a Trust Deed dated 7 June 1901 and 
incorporated by Royal Charter on 21 August 1902 . 
The Charter was replaced in 1978 and updated in 
2015 . A further update was completed on 3 April 
2019 with the sealing of a Supplementary Royal 
Charter, which governs the operations of the Trust 
from that date . 

The Trust has fourteen Trustees, of whom five 
are appointed from the Principals of the Scottish 
universities who are all eligible ex officio for 
appointment as a Trustee .  The remaining nine 
nominated Trustees, are appointed by the existing 
Trustees following an open advertisement . They 
are selected by the Trustees on the advice of 
a nominations sub-committee, which works to 
ensure an appropriate range of experience in 
the Trust . Trustee induction takes place through 
provision of relevant background information and 
early involvement as a participant or observer in 
the committees of the Trust .

The Royal Charter requires that all Trustees, 
whether appointed as the Principal of one of the 
Scottish universities or holding office in a personal 
capacity, shall retire from office as Trustee 
after a term of three years but be eligible for re-
appointment at the Annual General Meeting at 
which the term of office expires, subject to a 
maximum term of nine years .

Investment Committee

The Trustees are required to constitute an 
Investment Committee, including at least three 
Trustees together with co-opted members as 
necessary . No fewer than three members of the 
committee shall be persons qualified by their ability 
in and practical experience of financial matters . The 
principal functions of the Investment Committee 
are keeping the Trust’s investments under regular 
review and considering, and reporting to the 
Trustees, the general investment policies and 
strategies to be followed by the Trustees .

Audit and Risk Committee

The Trustees are also required to constitute an 
Audit and Risk Committee, comprising no fewer 
than three Trustees . Prior to the introduction of the 
present Royal Charter the committee was required 
to include at least one ex-officio Trustee and to be 
chaired by a nominated Trustee . This restriction 
was removed in April 2019 . The principal functions 
of the Audit and Risk Committee are reviewing 
the annual accounts and audit of the Trust and 
keeping under review the internal control and risk 
management systems .

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee, comprising no fewer 
than three Trustees, is convened as required, on 
the occurrence, or expected occurrence, of a 
Trustee vacancy, including the ex-officio Trustees, 
to recommend appointments to the Trustees . 
At least one of the members of the Nominations 
Committee shall be an ex officio Trustee .

OBJECTS OF THE TRUST

By the Royal Charter, one half of the net income is 
to be applied to the improvement and expansion 
of the Universities of Scotland (Clause A) and one 
half to the payment of fees for qualifying Scottish 
students in respect of courses leading to a degree 
at a Scottish University (Clause B) . The Trustees 
have complete discretion over the disposal of 
any surplus under Clause B and may transfer any 
unexpended income to Clause A objectives or a 
reserve fund . 

The activities undertaken by the Trust in fulfilling 
these objects are summarised in the Secretary and 
Treasurer’s Report and in the activity report .
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STATEMENT OF THE TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Trustees are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) .

The Royal Charter, dated 3 April 2019, together with 
the law applicable to charities in Scotland require 
the Trustees to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the 
incoming resources and application of resources 
of the charity for that period . In preparing these 
financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

• observe the methods and principles of the 
Charities SORP;

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the charity will continue in 
business .

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the charity and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 
(as amended) and the provisions of the Royal 
Charter . They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the charity and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities .

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the charity and financial information 
included on the charity’s website . Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions .

OPERATING POLICIES  
OF THE TRUST

Reserves policy

The General Fund Reserve is an unrestricted fund, 
corresponding to the sums accumulated from 
historical surpluses of income over expenditure, 
which the Trustees are free to use in accordance 
with the charitable objects of the Trust . It is held 
to protect the Trust from unexpected fluctuations 
in future income so as to maintain, at a minimum, 
continuing support for staff and administration 
costs, including investment management fees, as 
committed for the next 12 months . The appropriate 
level of the reserve is reviewed by the Trustees 
annually .

Special Supplementary Fund – this was a fund 
created from sums placed at the disposal of the 
Trustees to alleviate hardship of students already 
receiving fee assistance from the Trust who 
found themselves in exceptionally necessitous 
circumstances . Following approval of the revised 
Royal Charter, it became possible to make hardship 
awards from the General Fund . Consequently, 
the designated Special Supplementary Fund was 
no longer required . The closing fund balance of 
£255,000, after liquidation of the assets, was 
undesignated and transferred into the General 
Fund at 31 May 2019 .

Property Reserve Fund - a fund set up to support 
the investment in Andrew Carnegie House which 
is jointly owned and occupied with the other UK 
based Carnegie Trusts .

The Endowment Fund represents the original 
endowment, together with surpluses and deficits 
to date, and larger unrestricted legacies received .

Investment policy and performance

The Trustees’ investment powers are governed 
by the Royal Charter, which permits them to 
invest in a broad range of investments issued by 
any government or municipal or public authority 
authorised to borrow money or any company 
with limited liability, and to invest in property in 
Scotland, England, Wales, and Northern Ireland .

The objective agreed with the Trust’s investment 
managers is to achieve real growth in both income 
and capital, within the investment guidelines in 
respect of type of investment and asset allocation 
contained within the discretionary management 
agreement with the investment managers . The 
current risk guidelines agreed are that there will 

34

Structure, Governance & Management



be a minimum of 50 holdings, none of which may 
represent more than 10% of the net asset value of 
the fund; that the ten largest holdings of the fund 
will represent no more than 60% of the net asset 
value of the fund; and that no single stock should 
account for more than 4% of the forecast income 
for the fund . The current guidelines set asset 
allocation as follows: 

ASSET ALLOCATION

Permitted 
Range

Performance 
Benchmark

UK  
Equities

55-100%
FTSE All 

share Index

Overseas  
equities

0-20% -

Bonds/ 
Cash

0-25% -

The flexibility on changing the asset allocation 
depends on the investment managers’ 
requirement to grow the income in real terms . 
The types of investment permitted include UK 
equities, convertibles, preference shares, UK and 
European fixed interest securities, unit trusts and 
investment trusts . Non UK equity investments are 
also permitted as necessary to provide flexibility in 
maintaining balance of sectors in the context of the 
risk guidelines . Underwriting or sub-underwriting 
of issues or offers for sale of securities is permitted 
but the funds may not, without permission of the 
Trust, include securities where an issue or offer for 
sale was underwritten, managed or arranged within 
the previous twelve months by the investment 
managers . Investments in tobacco companies are 
not permitted .

The Investment Committee meets three times 
annually with the investment managers to review 
the reports on performance and to monitor the risk 
strategy for investments in respect of business risk 
and portfolio risk . As part of the periodic reporting, 
the investment managers report on internal 
compliance with risk management procedures, 
with an annual review of such risk management 
arrangements being carried out by the Bursar and 
Secretary and Treasurer . The performance for the 
year is set out in the Financial Review on page 39 .

Grant making policy

In accordance with Andrew Carnegie’s wishes, 
the Royal Charter enables the Trust to support 
the staff and students of the 15 Universities of 

Scotland, the Glasgow School of Art and the Royal 
Conservatoire of Scotland . The schemes of support 
available during the year ended 30 September 2019 
are described below .

Tuition fee grants may be provided to support 
undergraduates studying for a first degree who 
are not eligible for support through the SAAS . 
A competitive Carnegie Vacation Scholarship 
scheme is operated to assist undergraduate 
students who wish to undertake research in the 
summer vacation . 

A prestige scheme of Carnegie PhD Scholarships 
supports a limited number of graduates, with first 
class Honours degrees, who will pursue three 
years of postgraduate research .

Academic members of staff of Scottish universities 
are eligible to apply for the Trust’s Carnegie 
Research Incentive Grant scheme, which awards 
grants of up to £15,000 for personal research; 
and Carnegie Research Workshops Grants of up 
to £50,000 to advance new research ideas and 
encourage the exchange of skills and expertise 
between participants .

Pay policy 

The Trustees and the Trust Secretary are the key 
management personnel . No Trustees receive 
remuneration; details of the reimbursement of 
Trustees expenses are in Note 4 to the financial 
statements . Staff terms and conditions of 
employment are set by the Staffing Committee 
from time to time . The pay of all staff is reviewed 
annually in line with contractual terms, using the 
pay scales operated by the universities .

Related parties

Material transactions with related parties are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements . 
The Trust’s policy is for Trustees, executive and 
advisers to declare their interest and exempt 
themselves from all relevant discussions and 
decisions which may involve a transaction with a 
related party or in which they may have a conflict 
of interest .

Going concern 

The Trustees have considered the Trust’s reserves 
and cash position and the expected income 
over the next 12 months, and consider that it is 
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis .
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Risk Management 

The Trustees have considered the major strategic, business and operational risks which the Trust faces 
and confirm that systems have been established to monitor and control these risks and to mitigate any 
adverse impact on the Trust . The Trustees receive regular reports on the key risks recorded in the Trust’s 
risk register . The remit of the Audit and Risk Committee includes keeping under review the effectiveness of 
internal control and risk management systems of the Trust . The Trustees believe that the existing systems 
and the structure of decision taking and reporting through senior staff continue to provide assurance that 
risks are assessed and carefully managed . 

The principal risks in the risk register include:

Description of risk Action to manage risk

Failure to maintain/grow real value of 
endowment income .

Regular review of investment policy and 
performance, with independent advice from 
Investment Managers and professionally expert 
members of the Investment Committee .

Risk of IT systems failure resulting in 
interruption of operation and/or loss of data 
and/or inappropriate access to confidential 
data .

Ensure continuing operation of all back-up 
systems . Test new systems extensively ahead 
of introduction . Work as appropriate to fulfil 
requirements of “Cyber Essentials” certification .

Constitutional changes and/or changes to 
Government or Universities’ policies that 
impact detrimentally on the Trust .

Continue to monitor Government fee support 
& other relevant policies . Adjust the balance of 
funding between grant schemes in the light of 
changing circumstances .
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The Trust’s investments at 30th September 2019 
had a market value of £80 .9million, a reduction of 
£0 .9million on the previous year . The unrealised 
revaluation for the year was a loss of £2 .0million, 
which was offset by gains on investments realised 
of £0 .5m .  Performance in the year was below the 
Trust’s benchmark target for both total and capital 
returns, but income performance was in line with 
expectations . The total return over three years 
was better than target but the five year position 
continued to be impacted by the relatively poor 
short term performance in 2016 . Last year the 
Investment Committee asked the managers to 
consider reducing the yield of the portfolio, to give 
more scope for improved capital performance . 
Some changes have been made to the structure 
of the portfolio to give effect to this, including the 
disposal of all the fixed interest investments held .

PERFORMANCE OF  
THE INVESTMENTS

At the year-end, 14 .3% by value was invested in 
European stocks with the remainder being UK 
equities, all the North American holdings having 
been sold during the year . There were no fixed 
interest holdings and the cash balance at year 
end was 3 .48%, including cash from the transfers 
between funds described below . The portion of 
the cash held in the investment portfolio relating 
to the General Fund is £706,000 .

Dividend income increased by 3% for the year, from 
£3 .51million to £3 .62 million, although about a third 
of the increase came from delayed reclaims of tax 
withheld on overseas dividends . After deducting 
costs of investment management, the net incoming 
resource available for charitable application was 
£3 .4million compared to £3 .3million in the previous 
year . 

The overall amount expended under Clause A and 
Clause B (see note 5) was £3 .1 million including 
the support costs, £0 .3million more than last year . 
The expenditure for the year on schemes included 
the first two awards in the new Carnegie Research 
Workshops scheme .

Expenditure on Clause A increased by 7% from 
£2 .1million to £2 .3million and on Clause B the 
increase was £133,000 or 24% . In Clause A, this 
mainly reflected an increase in the numbers of PhD 
scholarships commencing, and accounted for, in the 
year, together with the first two awards in the new 
Carnegie Research Workshops scheme . Seventeen 
scholars were appointed in Spring 2018 and took 
up their studies in October 2018 . There were fewer 
Carnegie Research Incentive Grants awarded (97 
compared to 123) but the average award increased 
in line with the increase in maximum grant from 
£10,000 to £15,000, which offsetting the decrease 
in expenditure . Unused sums from the final grants 
in the closed schemes (Centenary Professorships 
and Collaborative Research grants) were returned 
by the universities . 

In Clause B, Undergraduate Tuition fee grants were 
made to 163 recipients, with the increase in numbers 
being achieved by working with the universities 
to identify potential applicants . Expenditure on 
this scheme increased from £293,000 to £421, 000 
as a result . The numbers of Carnegie Vacation 
Scholarships awarded was stable at 110 (2018 - 112) 
and expenditure rose very slightly from £231,150 
to £234,500 . In addition to the Scholars’ day held 
for PhD scholars in February 2019, the holders of 
Vacation Scholarships were invited to an event to 
showcase their work, held at Strathclyde University 
in September .

Actual for  
the year

Benchmark/ 
income target

3 Year 
actual

3 year 
target

5 year 
actual

5 year 
target

Total return 2 .43% 2 .68% 22 .79% 21 .69% 35 .99% 38 .89%

Capital return -2 .26% -1 .6% 7 .38% 8 .16% 9 .19% 14 .94%

Dividend and interest 
income from investments £3,623,222 £3,700,000
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Support costs in the year of £336,000 (2018- 
£333,000) were mainly stable, except for 
increased investment in IT systems, in support 
of the Trustees intention of building the Andrew 
Carnegie community . This included development 
of a new website and additions to the Trust’s 
Customer relationship management database 
system . The administration of the Carnegie 
Research Workshops awards was also added to the 
database . Professional costs include the write back 
of an unused provision for legal costs in relation 
to the revision of the Charter and the new audit 
fee agreed following a tender for audit services . 
Costs of running the office in Andrew Carnegie 
House continued at previous levels . The ratio of 
support costs to total income (less investment 
management costs), has reduced to 9 .7% from 
9 .9%

Under the FRS102 SORP the costs previously 
separated as governance costs are now classified 
as part of the support costs shown in Note 4 to 
the Accounts . Governance costs fell to £51,552 
from the 2018 level of £62,940 which had included 
expenditure on the ongoing review of the Charter . 

The net operating result for the year on the 
General Fund was a surplus of £319,292 (surplus 
of £448,911 in 2018) . In the context of the 2018 
result, an additional Carnegie PhD scholarship was 
awarded and this together with the new Carnegie 
Research Workshops awards and increased spend 
on undergraduate tuition fees were planned to 
offset increases in income . However, the nature 
of the Trust’s schemes and timing dictated by the 
academic year mean that there is little capacity in-
year to adjust spending plans to reflect changes 
in the income arising in the second half of the 
financial year . 

In view of the changes to the Royal Charter that 
took effect in April 2019, the Trustees decided to 
undesignate the Special Supplementary Fund and 
return the balance to the General Fund . Income 
received in the Fund prior to this taking place 
amounted to £19,000 and awards totalling £60,446 
were made to 62 students in January 2019 . The 
transfer of the final balance to the General Fund of 
£255,000 was made on 31 May .  

The movement of £12,828 on the Property Reserve 
represents the depreciation on the Andrew 
Carnegie House building . Taken together the 
operating result for the unrestricted funds, before 
gains and losses on investments was a surplus of 
£265,043 . This compares to the prior year result of 
£436,530 . 

Net investment gains realised amounted to 
£0 .54million (2018-gains £0 .6million) and together 
with the unrealised investment loss of £2 .0 
million (2018 loss of £0 .3 million) brought the net 
movement in funds for the year to a deficit of £1 .2 
million .

The Trust’s balance sheet continued to show a 
significant cash holding at year-end (£3 .59million; 
2018 £3 .59million) . Since June 2017, Carnegie 
Research Incentive Grants awarded have been 
payable only when the research has been 
completed and reported upon . This has had 
the effect of increasing cash balances and 
the associated creditor for Carnegie Research 
Incentive Grants awarded but not yet paid by 
approximately £1 .4million . The total funds at 30 
September 2019 were £81,966,985 comprising 
the Endowment Fund of £80,217,012, the Property 
Reserve Fund of £485,503 represented by the 
share of Andrew Carnegie House, and the General 
Reserve of £1,264,490 .

The Reserves policy set by the Trustees is intended 
to protect the Trust from unexpected fluctuations 
in future income so as to maintain, at a minimum, 
continuing support for staff and administration 
costs, including investment management fees, as 
committed for the next 12 months . Based on 2019 
levels of expenditure this would imply a reserve 
of approximately £0 .6 million . As the increase in 
General Reserve derives mainly from additional 
income earned from the endowment, potentially 
at the expense of capital growth, the Trustees 
agreed in February 2019 to return £0 .6million to the 
Endowment Fund . Despite this action, as a result 
of the transfer of the Special Supplementary Fund 
balance and the surplus for the year, the General 
Reserve at September 2019 remains in excess of 
the amount required by the policy . The Trustees 
will continue to review the level of reserves and 
planned expenditure on the schemes .
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
For the year ended 30th September 2019

  Note Unrestricted 
funds

Endowment 
funds 

2019 
Total 

2018 
Total 

Income from

Investments 2

£ £ £ £

Dividends and interest on investments 3,623,222 - 3,623,222 3,510,822

Bank deposit interest 16,319 - 16,319 3,850

3,639,541 - 3,639,541 3,514,672

Donations and legacies

Other income (Clause B) 29,337 - 29,337 9,274

Legacies 1,008 - 1,008 40,882

Total income 2 3,669,886 - 3,669,886 3,564,828

Expenditure on 3

Raising funds- investment management fees 201,945 - 201,945 206,936

Charitable activities 3,202,898 - 3,202,898 2,921,362

Total expenditure 3 3,404,843 - 3,404,843 3,128,298

Operating surplus/(deficit) 265,043 - 265,043 436,530

Net gains/(losses) on investments

Realised gains - 1,013,755 1,013,755 866,701

Realised losses (11,129) (466,483) (477,612) (293,861)

(11,129) 547,272 536,143 572,840

Unrealised gains - 4,136,600 4,136,600 4,989,434

Unrealised losses - (6,146,248) (6,146,248) (5,295,439)

- (2,009,648) (2,009,648) (306,005)

Net income/(expenditure) 253,914 (1,462,376) (1,208,462) 703,365

Transfers between funds (600,000) 600,000 - -

Net movement in funds (346,086) (862,376) (1,208,462) 703,365

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward at 1 October 2018 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447 82,472,082

Total funds carried forward at 30 September 2019 1,749,973 80,217,012 81,966,985 83,175,447

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities.
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 30th September 2019

Note 2019 2018

Fixed assets £ £ £ £

Tangible Assets:

Andrew Carnegie House and contents 7 504,029 522,359

Investments

At market value 8 80,923,858 81,797,363

Total fixed assets 81,427,887 82,319,722

Current assets

Accrued income from investments 66,381 143,478

Other debtors and prepayments 41,580 56,077

Cash at bank and in hand 3,595,128 3,590,121

3,703,089 3,789,676

Current liabilities

Amounts due within one year

Grants awarded 1,783,156 1,449,785

Centenary Professorships - 44,760

Accrued expenses of administration 78,954 279,121

1,862,110 1,773,666

Net Current assets 1,840,979 2,016,010

Provision for scholarship costs 9 (1,301,881) (1,160,285)

NET ASSETS 81,966,985 83,175,447

Represented by

Endowment Funds 80,217,012 81,079,388

Unrestricted funds

 General Fund 1,264,470 1,289,753

 Designated funds

 Property Reserve Fund 485,503 498,331

 Special Supplementary Fund - 307,975

1,749,973 2,096,059

TOTAL FUNDS 10 81,966,985 83,175,447

Approved by the Trustees on 7 February 2020 and signed on their behalf

Dame Anne Glover DBE
Chair
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30th September 2019

Unrestricted 
Funds 

Endowment 
Funds 

2019 
Total 

 2018 
Total 

£ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income/ Expenditure 253,914 (1,462,376) (1,208,462) 703,365

Depreciation 18,330 - 18,330 21,372

(Gains)/losses on investments 11,129 1,462,376 1,473,505 (266,835)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - - - -

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 91,594 91,594 478,378

(Increase)/decrease in creditors 88,444 - 88,444 812,198

Provision for scholarships 141,596 141,596 82,497

Net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities 605,007 605,007 1,830,975

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions of fixed assets - - - (16,905)

Payments to acquire investments - (14,151,174) (14,151,174) (10,266,577)

Receipts from realisation of investments 202,360 13,735,824 13,938,184 8,435,647

(Increase) /decrease in cash in investment portfolio 4,605 (391,615) (387,010) 1,450,350

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities 206,965 (806,965) (600,000) (397,485)

Change in cash for the year 811,972 (806,965) 5,007 1,433,490

Transfers (806,965) 806,965

Cash at bank and in hand at 1 October 2018 3,590,121 - 3,590,121 2,156,631

Cash at bank and in hand at 30 September 2019 3,595,128 - 3,595,128 3,590,121



1. Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted, 
judgements and key sources of estimated 
uncertainty in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Trust are set out below .

(a) Basis of preparation – The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
(Charities SORP (FRS102)) applicable to 
charities preparing their financial statements 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic 
of Ireland (FRS102), with FRS102, and with the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and the Charity Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) . Under FRS102 
the Trust is classified as a public benefit entity .

 The financial statements comprise three 
primary financial statements: the statement 
of financial activities, which incorporates the 
income and expenditure account, the balance 
sheet and the statement of cash flows .  

 The financial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of UK listed investments, in £ 
sterling which is the functional currency of the 
entity . 

 In preparing the financial statements, the 
Trustees are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions, which may 
affect reported income, expenses, assets 
and liabilities . The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors considered relevant . Actual 
results may differ from such estimates . 
Judgements made in preparing these financial 
statements comprise

• The applicability of the estimated useful 
lives of fixed assets used to calculate the 
period over which depreciation is applied

• The review of fixed assets for impairment or 
obsolescence

• The assessment of leases to determine 
whether the risks and rewards of ownership 
remain with the lessor or are transferred to 
the Trust

(b) Going concern – On the basis of the Trust’s 
reserves and cash position and the expected 
income for the next twelve months, the 
Trustees consider that it is appropriate to 
prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis .

(c) Fixed Assets and Depreciation – Expenditure 
on heritable property and on contents is 
recorded as capital expenditure . Depreciation 
is provided to write off the cost of fixed assets 
over their estimated useful lives on a straight 
line basis as follows:

 Buildings 2%

 Furniture, fixtures and fittings 5-25%

 Computers 25%  

 Plant and equipment 5-10%

(d) Investments – Investments are stated at 
fair value as at the balance sheet date . The 
statement of financial activities includes the 
net gains and losses arising on revaluation and 
disposals throughout the year .

(e) Debtors – Debtors are recognised at the 
settlement amount due . Prepayments are 
valued at the amount prepaid .

(f) Cash – Cash at bank and in hand includes cash 
and short term highly liquid investments with a 
short maturity of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or 
similar .

(g) Creditors and provisions – Creditors and 
provisions are recognised where the charity has 
a present obligation resulting from a past event 
that will probably result in a transfer of funds 
to a third party and the amount due to settle 
the obligation can be measured or estimated 
reliably . Creditors and provisions are normally 
recognised at their settlement amount .

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30th September 2019
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(h) Income – Income is recognised when the Trust 
has entitlement to the funds, it is probable that 
the income will be received and the amount 
can be measured reliably .  

• Investment income is accounted for in the 
year in which the Trust is entitled to receipt .

• Legacies and donations – Larger 
unrestricted legacies of a non-recurring 
nature are credited to the Endowment Fund 
in the year . Other legacies and donations, on 
a scale commensurate with students’ fees 
advanced in earlier years, are included in 
Clause B income, or, if agreed by the donor, 
added to the Special Supplementary Fund .

(i) Expenditure – Liabilities are recognised as soon 
as there is a legal or constructive obligation 
committing the Trust to the expenditure . 
Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis .

• Charitable activities – Costs of charitable 
activities include grants made and overhead 
and support costs as shown in Note 5 . Grants 
payable are charged when approved by the 
Trustees except where approval is subject to 
subsequent fulfilment of conditions .

• Provision for scholarship costs – 
Postgraduate scholarships are awarded for 
a duration of 36 or 42 months subject to 
satisfactory progress being made . Provision 
is made for the outstanding future costs 
estimated to be payable for all scholars in 
post during the financial year . The Trust 
also administers the appointments of one 
or two scholars per annum as an agent 
for the RSE Scotland Foundation (CRF 
fund) and the income and expenditure for 
these appointments is not included in the 
Statement of Financial Activities .

(j) Employee benefits – Since 1 August 2015 
eligible employees are auto-enrolled in a 
workplace pension scheme operated by NOW 
Pensions . For two existing employees who 
opted out of the NOW scheme, contributions 
continue to be paid towards personal pension 
plans . Total pension contributions amounted 
to £12,846 (2018 £12,310) . These contributions 
are included in support costs . Redundancy and 
termination payments are recognised in the 
financial statements when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation .

(k) Fund accounting – The General Reserve is 
an unrestricted fund which the Trustees are 
free to use in accordance with the charitable 
objects of the Trust .

Designated Funds

• Special Supplementary Fund (SSF) – 
Following the revision of the Trust Charter, 
the SSF was no longer required to be held as 
a separate designated fund and the balance 
at 31 May 2019 was transferred to the General 
Fund . It previously consisted of sums placed 
at the disposal of the Trustees to alleviate 
hardship of those students already receiving 
fee assistance from the Trust who were in 
exceptionally necessitous circumstances .

• Property Reserve Fund - a fund set up to 
support the investment in Andrew Carnegie 
House which is jointly owned and occupied 
with the other UK based Carnegie Trusts .

Endowment Fund - the original endowment 
of the Trust as augmented by net surpluses, 
together with the larger legacies received . 
The income from the fund, less costs of 
management, is treated as unrestricted income 
in line with the terms of the Royal Charter . 
Transfers to and from General Reserve are 
made each year to bring the Endowment Fund 
into balance with the value of its net assets .

(l) Financial instruments – The Trust only has 
financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind 
that qualify as basic financial instruments . Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured 
at their settlement value .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Income

 Notes General  
Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

Fund 

Property 
Reserve  

Fund

Endowment 
Funds 

Total 

Year ended 30 September 2019 £ £ £ £ £

Investments

Dividends and interest on investments 3,608,698 14,524 - - 3,623,222

Bank deposit interest 16,319 - - - 16,319

3,625,017 14,524 - - 3,639,541

Donations and legacies 25,844 4,501 - - 30,345

Total income 2019 3,650,861 19,025 - - 3,669,886

Year ended 30 September 2018 £ £ £ £ £

Investments

Dividends and interest on investments 3,501,242 9,580 - - 3,510,822

Bank deposit interest 3,850 - - - 3,850

3,505,092 9,580 - - 3,514,672

Donations and legacies 2,080 48,076 - - 50,156

Total income 2018 3,507,172 57,656 - - 3,564,828
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3. Expenditure

Notes General 
Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

Fund 

Property 
Reserve 

Fund

Endowment 
Funds 

Total 

Year ended 30 September 2019 £ £ £ £ £

Raising Funds-  
  Investment management fees

201,945 - - - 201,945

Charitable Activities

Grants awarded

Clause A 5 2,137,342 - - - 2,137,342

Clause B 5 658,773 - - - 658,773

Special Supplementary Fund payments - 60,446 - - 60,446

Wider Carnegie activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

10,050 - - - 10,050

Support costs 4 323,459 - 12,828 - 336,287

Total charitable activities 3,129,624 60,446 12,828 - 3,202,898

Total expenditure 2019 3,331,569 60,446 12,828 - 3,404,843

Year ended 30 September 2018 £ £ £ £ £

Raising Funds-  
  Investment management fees

206,936 - - - 206,936

Charitable Activities

Grants awarded

 Clause A 5 1,989,192 - - - 1,989,192

 Clause B 5 528,590 - - - 528,590

Special Supplementary Fund payments - 55,631 - - 55,631

Wider Carnegie activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

15,125 - - - 15,125

Support costs 4 318,418 14,406 - 332,824

Total charitable activities 2,851,325 55,631 14,406 - 2,921,362

Total expenditure 2018 3,058,261 55,631 14,406 - 3,128,298
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4. Support costs 

Notes 2019

£

2018

£

Salaries and pension 6 226,887 221,568

Staff training, temporary staff and other costs 2,122 17,926

Rates and insurance 3,570 4,074

Heating, lighting and cleaning 7,653 5,668

Upkeep of premises and equipment 6,016 5,983

Computer maintenance and support 14,295 8,153

Computer development 44,159 19,530

PR & promotion 2,753 5,892

Printing and stationery 2,448 2,779

Postages and telephones 1,712 1,532

Travel and subsistence 1,911 4,077

Legal and professional fees (2,700) 8,454

Audit fee 7,320 7,242

Meeting costs 5,788 5,240

Miscellaneous (5,977) (6,666)

317,957 311,452

Depreciation

 Andrew Carnegie House 12,828 14,406

 Other fixed assets 5,502 6,966

336,287 332,824

Support costs are the central costs incurred directly in support of expenditure on the objects of the Trust . 
Governance costs comprise all costs involving the public accountability of the Trust and its compliance 
with regulation and good practice . These costs include statutory audit and legal fees together with costs 
of meetings of the Trustees and committees .

Total attributable to governance costs 51,552 62,940

No Trustee received any payments other than reimbursements of expenditure on travel and subsistence 
costs actually and necessarily incurred in carrying out their duties . The aggregate of such reimbursements, 
including payments on behalf of two Trustees, was £266 (2018 £2,699 on behalf of three trustees) including 
£nil (2018-£2,164) in connection with liaison with the international network of Carnegie foundations .
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5. Clause A and Clause B analysis

2019 2018
Clause A Clause B Clause A Clause B

£ £ £ £

INCOME

Unrestricted income 2 3,625,017

Investment management costs 3 (201,945)

Net annual income 3,423,072 1,711,536 1,711,536 1,649,078 1,649,078

Legacies and students’ fees repaid - 25,844 - 2,080

Net income available for grant making 1,711,536 1,737,380 1,649,078 1,651,158

EXPENDITURE

Research Incentive Grants 896,740 - 960,543 -

PhD Scholarships provision 1,195,731 - 1,064,383 -

PhD scholars events 5.630 3,070

Research workshops 78,329 - - -

Collaborative Research Grants (23,685) - (17,769) -

Research Grants (refunded) - - (16) -

Centenary Professorships (15,403) - (21,019) -

Carnegie- Cameron Bursaries - (6,800) - (2,267)

Tuition Fee Grants - 421,426 - 292,695

Vacation Scholarships grants 234,500 - 231,150

Vacation Scholarship event - 9,647 - 7,012

2,137,342 658,773 1,989,192 528,590

Support costs of grant making 161,729 161,730 159,209 159,209

2,299,071 820,503 2,148,401 687,799

CLAUSE A AND CLAUSE B SURPLUS INCOME (587,535) 916,877 (499,323) 963,359

(587,535) (499,323)

Wider Carnegie Activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

(10,050) (15,125)

Net incoming resources on general fund 319,292 448,911

In terms of Clause A of the Royal Charter, one half of the net annual income shall be applied towards the 
improvement and expansion of the Universities of Scotland; under Clause B the other half of the income, or 
such part thereof as in each year may be found requisite, shall be devoted to assistance with fees exigible 
by the Universities . Any surplus income which may remain after satisfying the requirements under Clause 
A and B shall be at the disposal of the Trustees .

Details of the numbers of grants awarded are set out in the activity report on page 9 . All grants are awards 
to individuals, but mainly payable to their institutions .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
6. Salaries and pension

2019 2018

No. No.

Average number employed,
  including part-time employees 

5 5

£

Wages and salaries 206,721 214,081

Social security costs 19,472 18,957

Pension costs 12,846 12,310

Total emoluments of employees 239,039 245,348

Less reimbursed by co-owners of building (12,152) (23,780)

226,887 221,568

Key management is considered to be the Trust Secretary . Key management remuneration including National 
Insurance in the year totalled £86,140 (2018 - £84,490) . No pension contributions were made in relation to 
key management in the year . One employee received remuneration in the band £70,000-£80,000 (2018- 
one £70,000-80,000) . At 30 September 2019 there were outstanding pension costs of £994 (2018-£968) . 
Termination payments totalled nil (2018- £6,439) .

7. Fixed assets

Andrew Carnegie 
House (25% share) 

Contents Total

£ £ £

Cost at 1 October 2018 652,400 113,084 765,484

Additions - - -

Disposals - - -

Cost at 30 September 2019 652,400 113,084 765,484

Depreciation at 1 October 2018 154,069 89,056 243,125

Disposals - - -

Charge for year 12,828 5,502 18,330

Depreciation at 30 September 2019 166,897 94,558 261,455

Book value at 30 September 2019 485,503 18,526 504,029

Book value at 30 September 2018 498,331 24,028 522,359

Andrew Carnegie House assets include £62,500 of land that is not depreciated .
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8. Investments

UK  
Equities

Overseas 
Equities 

Fixed  
Interest

Cash  
deposits

Settlements 
outstanding

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Fair value at 1 October 2018 63,729,845 15,704,987 604,628 1,757,903 - 81,797,363

Purchases 13,909,282 246,604 - (14,155,886) - -

Sales proceeds (9,859,997) (3,525,827) (552,360) 13,938,184 - -

Exchange gain - - - 4,712 - 4,712

Gain/(Loss) on sale 636,788 (53,089) (52,268) - - 531,431

Revaluation for the year (1,340,363) (669,285) - - - (2,009,648)

Cash introduced - - - 600,000 - 600,000

Fair value at 30 September 2019 67,075,555 11,703,390 - 2,144,913 80,923,858

The historical cost of Listed investments was £65,486,097 (2018-£60,951,934) .

The gain on sale of investments at historical cost was £4,316,462 (2018 –gain £2,004,758)

Shareholdings with a value in excess of 5% of the total portfolio value:-nil (2018 nil) .-

9. Provision for scholarship costs

Awarded 2015 and 
earlier

2016 2017 2018 £

Provision brought forward at 1 October 2018 37,977 354,728 767,580 - 1,160,285

Provision made for scholars commencing in year - - - 1,197,171 1,197,171

Payments in the year (36,537) (306,239) (347,323) (364,036) (1,054,135)

Adjustments to earlier awards (1,440) - - - (1,440)

Provision carried forward at 30 September 2019 - 48,489 420,257 833,135 1,301,881

Provision payable Payable within 
 1 Year

Payable  
2-5 years

At 30  
September 

2019

Scholars appointed 2015 and earlier -

Scholars appointed 2016 48,489 - 48,489

Scholars appointed 2017 397,814 22,443 420,257

Scholars appointed 2018 399,043 434,092 833,135

Total 845,346 456,535 1,301,881
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
10. Movements on funds 2019

Unrestricted Funds Total  
Unrestricted 

Funds

Endowment 
Funds

Total
Funds

General Fund Designated Funds

Property  
Reserve  

Fund

Special  
Supplementary  

Fund

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 October 2018 1,289,753 498,331 307,975 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447

Incoming resources 3,650,861 - 19,025 3,669,886 - 3,669,886

Outgoing resources (3,331,569) (12,828) (60,446) (3,404,843) - (3,404,843)

Net operating result 319,292 (12,828) (41,421) 265,043 - 265,043

Transfers (344,575) - (255,425) (600,000) 600,000 -

Gains and losses - - (11,129) (11,129) (1,462,376) (1,473,505)

At 30 September 2019 1,264,470 485,503 - 1,749,973 80,217,012 81,966,985

Analysis of funds

Fixed assets 18,526 485,503 - 504,029 - 504,029

Investments 706,846 - - 706,846 80,217,012 80,923,858

Net current assets 1,840,979 - - 1,840,979 - 1,840,979

Provision (1,301,881) - - (1,301,881) - (1,301,881)

1,264,470 485,503 - 1,749,973 80,217,012 81,966,985

Transfers represent a transfer of £600,000 from the General Fund reserve to the Endowment Fund and the return of the 
balance of the Special Supplementary Fund of £255,425 to the General Fund following the changes to the Royal Charter .

Unrestricted Funds Total 
Unrestricted 

Funds

Endowment 
Funds

Total
Funds

General Fund Designated Funds

Property  
Reserve 

Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

Fund

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 October 2017 844,180 509,399 313,659 1,667,238 80,804,844 82,472,082

Incoming resources 3,507,172 - 57,656 3,564,828 - 3,564,828

Outgoing resources (3,058,261) (14,406) (55,631) (3,128,298) - (3,128,298)

Net operating result 448,911 (14,406) 2,025 436,530 - 436,530

Transfers (3,338) 3,338 - - - -

Gains and losses - - (7,709) (7,709) 274,544 266,835

At 30 September 2018 1,289,753 498,331 307,975 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447

Analysis of funds

Fixed assets 24,028 498,331 - 522,359 - 522,359

Investments 499,885 - 218,093 717,978 81,079,388 81,797,366

Net current assets 1,926,125 - 89,882 2,016,007 - 2,016,007

Provision (1,160,285) - - (1,160,285) - (1,160,285)

1,289,753 498,331 307,975 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447
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FRS  102  requires  the  disclosure  of  information  in 
relation to investment risks, which is set out below:

Credit risk: this is the risk that one party to a 
financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation .

Market risk: this comprises currency risk, interest 
rate risk and other price risk .

• Currency risk: this is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates .

• Interest rate risk: this is the risk that the 
fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates .

• Other price risk: this is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes .

• In market prices (other than those arising 
from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting 
all similar financial instruments traded in 
the market .

11. Financial instruments

The carrying values of financial instruments as defined by the Accounting standards are as follows:

2019
£

2018
£

Financial assets
Debt instruments at amortised cost

Other debtors 40,236 51,709

Debt instruments at fair value through income & expenditure
40,236 51,709

Listed investments 80,923,861 81,797,366

Financial liabilities
Liabilities at amortised cost

Grants payable 1,783,156 1,494,545

Accrued expenses of administration 78,957 279,121

1,862,113 1,773,666

The Trust has exposure to these risks because 
of the investments it makes to implement its 
investment strategy .

The Trustees manage investment risks, including 
credit risk and market risk, within agreed risk 
limits which are set taking into account the Trust’s 
strategic investment objectives . These investment 
objectives and risk limits are implemented through 
the investment management agreements in 
place with the Trust’s investment managers and 
monitored by the Investment Committee by regular 
reviews of the investment portfolios .

Credit Risk – the Trust is directly exposed to credit 
risk in relation to the fixed interest investments and 
cash deposits held . Direct credit risk is mitigated 
by policy restrictions on the grade of investment 
held .

Currency risk – the Trust is subject to currency risk 
because some of the Trust’s investments are held 
in overseas markets .

Interest rate risk – the Trust is subject to interest 
rate risk through investments in bonds .

Other price risk – Other price risk arises principally 
in relation to direct equity holdings . The Trust 
manages this exposure to other price risk by 
constructing a diverse portfolio of investments 
across various markets .
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12. Financial commitments – operating leases

The financial commitment at 30 September 2019 in respect of operating leases for printing and copying 
equipment was £785 (£628 payable in less than one year and £157 within two to five years) (2018-£1,413 £ 628 
payable in less than one year and £785 within two to five years)

13. Transactions with related parties

(a) Trustees – No Trustee received any payments other than reimbursements of expenditure on travel and 
subsistence costs actually and necessarily incurred in carrying out their duties The aggregate of such 
reimbursements, including payments on behalf of three Trustees, was £266 (2018 £2,783) including £nil 
(2018-£2,164) in connection with liaison with the international network of Carnegie foundations . Two 
Trustees were directors of Scottish Power plc, which supplied electricity to the Trust office in Andrew 
Carnegie House at a cost of £2,536 (2018 £2,203) .

(b) Other related parties – The Chair, Dame Anne Glover became President of the Royal Society of 
Edinburgh and a Trustee of the RSE Scotland Foundation on 1 April 2018 . The Trust administers PhD 
Scholarships on behalf of both these bodies and during the year received payments to cover the costs 
of the scholarships totalling £nil (2018-£21,891) and £91,068 (2018- £79,745) respectively . At the year-end 
£19,035 (2018- £18,196) was due from RSE Scotland Foundation 

14. Ultimate Controlling Party

The Trust is incorporated by Royal Charter and is controlled by its Trustees .

Accounts for the year ended 30 September 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The 
Carnegie Trust for the Universities of Scotland 
(the ‘charity’) for the year ended 30 September 
2019 which comprise the Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies . The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice) .

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
charity’s affairs as at 30 September 2019 and 
of its income and expenditure for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and Regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) .

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law . Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report . We are 
independent of the charity in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements . We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion .

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Trustees have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue .
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Other information

The other information comprises the information 
included in the Report of the Trustees, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon . The Trustees are responsible for the 
other information . Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon .

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated .

If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information . If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact .

We have nothing to report in this regard .

Matters on which we are required  
to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charity Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) require 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• The information given in the financial 
statements is inconsistent in any material 
respect with the Trustees’ report; or

• proper accounting records have not been kept, or

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit .

Responsibilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities, the Trustees are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the Trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error .

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees 
are responsible for assessing the charity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Trustees either intend to cease operations or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so .

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements

We have been appointed as auditor under section 
44(1) (c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and report in accordance with 
the Act and relevant regulations made or having 
effect thereunder .

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion . Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists . Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements .

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
https://www .frc .org .uk/auditorsresponsibilities . 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report .

This report is made solely to the Trustees, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 44 (1) (c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005 and Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) . Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Trustees those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose . To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the charity and its Trustees as a 
body for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed .

MHA Henderson Loggie

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors Eligible 
to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the 

Companies Act 2006

11-15 Thistle Street, Edinburgh EH2 1DF
25th February 2020

MHA Henderson Loggie is a trading name of Henderson Loggie LLP

Report by the Auditors



Professor Dame Anne Glover, FRS PRSE - Chair 
since May 2015 . A molecular biologist and currently 
President of the Royal Society of Edinburgh (2018-
2021) and Special Adviser to the Principal at the 
University of Strathclyde . Anne Glover gained a 
first class Bachelor of Science honours degree at 
the University of Edinburgh and a PhD at King’s 
College, Cambridge . Glover was recognised in 2008 
as a Woman of Outstanding Achievement by the UK 
Resource Centre for Women in Science, Engineering 
and Technology and was awarded a CBE in 2009 for 
services to environmental science and a DBE in 2015 
for services to science in UK and Europe . She was 
the first Chief Scientific Adviser to the President of 
the European Commission (2012-2015) and prior to 
that appointment she was the first Chief Scientific 
Adviser for Scotland (2006-2011) . She is non-
executive director on several boards and is also a 
Trustee of several charities and has a particular 
interest in how knowledge can be used to transform 
lives in Africa . 

Richard Burns Esq., MA LLB . Trustee 2005-May 2019 . 
MA from Oxford in Modern History and LLB from 
Edinburgh University . Formerly joint senior partner 
of Baillie Gifford & Co, investment managers in 
Edinburgh, Chancellor’s Assessor and Chairman 
of the Finance Committee of the Court of the 
University of Dundee . Chairman of two investment 
trust companies .

The Rt Hon Lord Eassie (Ronald D Mackay), PC . 
Trustee since May 2016 . Lord Eassie holds the degrees 
of MA (Hons) from the University of St Andrews and 
LlB from the University of Edinburgh . Admitted to 
the Faculty of Advocates in 1972, he practised at the 
Bar until 1979, when he took up a post as an official 
of the Court of Justice of the European Communities 
in Luxembourg . He resumed practice as an advocate 
in 1983 becoming Queen’s Counsel in 1986 . He 
served as an Advocate depute between 1987 – 1990 . 
From 1997 until retirement in 2015 he held office as 
a judge in the Court of Session and the High Court 
of Justiciary; and between 2002 and 2006 was also 
chairman of the Scottish Law Commission . Among 
extra-judicial activities, in 2005 Lord Eassie accepted 
an invitation to assume convenorship of the Joint 
Standing Committee on Legal Education in Scotland . 
He is also President of the Council of the Scottish 
Universities Law Institute . He is an honorary member 
of the Society of Legal Scholars and has contributed 
to, or edited, a number of legal textbooks .

Alison Fielding, BSc, MSc, MBA, PhD . Trustee since 
2016 . Alison Fielding is an experienced entrepreneur; 
creating, building and investing in high-growth 
companies . Her career has spanned scientific 
research at Zeneca plc, strategy consultancy at 
McKinsey & Company, and investment, business 
building and CEO coaching at IP Group plc, where 
she was COO until 2013 and is currently a Venture 
Partner . She has extensive executive and non-
executive experience and is currently NED at 
Nanoco plc, Getech plc and a Trustee of Royal 
Voluntary Service . Alison holds a First Class (Hons) 
BSc and PhD from the University of Glasgow, an 
MBA from Manchester Business School and an MSc 
in Mindfulness from the University of Aberdeen .

Sir John Grant, KCMG . Trustee since 2013 . Formerly 
Executive Vice President, Policy and Corporate 
Affairs, BG Group . Before joining the BG Group 
in 2009, John had been president of BHP Billiton 
Europe since 2007 . Prior to that he was a member of 
the Diplomatic Service from 1976-2007, holding posts 
in Stockholm, Moscow and Brussels, where he was 
the UK’s Permanent Representative to the European 
Union from 2003-2007 .

Lord Kerr of Kinlochard, GCMG HonLLD FRSE . 
Deputy Chairman since 2013, Trustee 2005 – 
December 2018 . Educated at Glasgow Academy and 
Pembroke College, Oxford . A Diplomatic Service 
career included spells as Permanent Representative 
to the EU, Ambassador to the USA, and Foreign 
Office Permanent Under Secretary (when he was a 
member of the British Council Board) . Chairman of 
Imperial College 2005-11, and Deputy Chairman of 
Royal Dutch Shell 2005-12 . Now Deputy Chairman of 
Scottish Power, Chairman of the Centre for European 
Reform and a director of the Scottish American 
Investment Company plc . Member, Standing Council 
for Europe since June 2016 . Formerly a Rhodes 
Trustee and Fulbright Commissioner . A crossbench 
peer since 2004 .

Donald McDonald, CBE . Trustee since March 2016 . 
Donald MacDonald is a law graduate of Edinburgh 
University and a chartered accountant . He is involved 
in corporate finance and a variety of businesses . 
He is a past President of Edinburgh Chamber of 
Commerce . Donald McDonald has over 30 years 
of involvement in the arts, as former Chair (now 
life President) of Scottish Chamber Orchestra and 
a Board member of Edinburgh Festival . He is joint 
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Founder of East Neuk Festival and of the Research 
Centre into Motor Neurone Disease at Edinburgh 
University as well as Euans Guide .

Sir Iain McMillan, CBE DL FCIB FCIBS FAIA CCMI 
FSQA FRSA . Trustee 2010 – May 2019 . Sir Iain  
McMillan spent 23 years with the TSB Group prior 
to joining the Confederation of British Industry 
(CBI) in 1993 . He held the position of Director, 
CBI Scotland for 19 years until 2014 . Sir Iain now 
holds a number of Board positions in the business 
and charitable sectors . He is currently Chairman 
of SkillForce, a charity that awards the Prince 
William Award, and the University of Strathclyde 
Business School Advisory Board, a Member of the 
Competition Appeal Tribunal, a Member of Audit 
& Risk Assurance Committee of the Competition 
Service and Honorary Patron of the Scottish North 
American Business Council (SNABC) . In 2009, Sir 
Iain was appointed Honorary Air Commodore of 
602 (City of Glasgow) Squadron, Royal Auxiliary 
Air Force . In 2003, Sir Iain was appointed CBE for 
services to the business community and lifelong 
learning in Scotland . In 2015, Sir Iain was knighted 
for services to the Scottish economy . 

Sandy Nairn, BSc, PhD, CFA . Trustee since March 
2016 . Investment Partner and CEO at Edinburgh 
Partners an Edinburgh based asset manager . Senior 
Non-Executive Director at The Mercantile Trust . 
Previously Chief Investment Officer at Scottish 
Widows Investment Partnership (2000-2003) and 
Director of Global Equity Research at Templeton 
Investment (1990-2000) . Prior to this he worked 
at Murray Johnstone an investment manager in 
Glasgow and as an economist at the Scottish 
Development Agency . He has authored two books 
on investment related topics .

Sara Parkin, OBE . Trustee since March 2016 . Sara 
Parkin is Principal Associate of The Sustainability 
Literacy Project and co-Founder and Trustee of 
Forum for the Future . She began her working 
life as a nurse in Edinburgh . During the 1980s she 
played leading roles in the UK Green Party and in 
the growth of green politics worldwide . With Forum 
for the Future she designed and ran a Masters in 
Leadership for Sustainable Development for 20 
years and wrote The Positive Deviant: Sustainability 
Leadership in a Perverse World, now a course book 
in several countries . She sits on the Board of the 
Higher Education Academy, is Chair of the Richard 
Sandbrook Trust and advises the NUS and others 
on sustainability . Past Board experience includes 
NERC, the Environment Agency (E&W), Friends of 
the Earth and the New Economics Foundation . She 
is also a Patron of Population Matters, the Urban 
Orchard Project and the Museum of Islay Life . Her 
honours include recognition by engineering, other 
professional and education institutions and, in 2001, 
an OBE for services to education and sustainable 
development . 

Ray Perman, BA MBA FRSE . Trustee since February 
2019 . Ray Perman started his working life as a 
journalist on newspapers including The Times and 
the Financial Times, before co-founding the business 
magazine company Insider Publications Ltd in 
1983 . He was an executive director of Caledonian 
Publishing plc . From 2005-2013 he was chair of the 
Access to Finance Expert Group, which advised the 
Secretary of State for Business, Innovation and Skills 
on policy relating to SME finance . Board member 
of Scottish Enterprise from 2004-2009, chair of 
Social Investment Scotland, from 2001-2009 . Former 
member of the court of Heriot Watt University . From 
2011-17 he chaired the James Hutton Institute, and 
from 2014-17 he was Director of the David Hume 
Institute . Author of HUBRIS: How HBOS Wrecked 
the Best Bank in Britain (2012) and a biography of 
John Lorne Campbell, The Man Who Gave Away His 
Island (2010) . Author of The Rise and Fall of the City 
of Money (2019) .

Judith Sischy, OBE BA MA . Trustee since 2011 . Former 
Chief Executive/ Director of Education for the 
Scottish Council of Independent Schools (SCIS); 
appointed on the Scottish Qualifications Authority 
Advisory Board, General Teaching Council for 
Scotland, Government’s Curriculum for Excellence 
Management Board . Former Member of the Court 
of Queen Margaret University, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants for Scotland and of the 
Appointments Committee of the General Teaching 
Council for Scotland . She has previously served on 
the Sick Children’s Trust in Edinburgh, Childline, 
Common Purpose and Edinburgh Rotary (Past 
President) . Currently teaching and mentoring for 
City of Edinburgh and for ACOSVO, a member of the 
Board of Edinburgh College and of several charities . 
Awarded an OBE in 2009 for services to education 
and the voluntary sector . 

Ed Weeple, CB MA . First Minister’s Assessor 2004-
2015 and Trustee 2016 – May 2019 . Formerly, Head 
of Lifelong Learning, Scottish Government - 
responsible for post-school education and training, 
including HE and FE . Since 2003, has held posts as: 
Court Member, Heriot Watt University; Member and 
Chair, Telford College; Special Adviser to Principal, 
University of the West of Scotland; and Secretary, 
Goodison Group in Scotland . Posts held prior to 
2003 include: Membership of: UK Chief Scientist’s 
Advisory Committee; UK Science and Engineering 
Base Committee; and AFRC Management Board and 
Visiting Groups . Also, Common Purpose, Business 
in the Community Executive Council and Trustee, 
Garvald Edinburgh .
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EX OFFICIO TRUSTEES
Principals and Vice-Chancellors of the 
Universities of Scotland

Aberdeen, University of 
Professor George Boyne MA MLitt PhD,FAcSS

Abertay, University of 
Professor Nigel Seaton BSc PhD

Dundee, University of 
Professor Sir Peter Downes OBE FRSE 
until 31 December 2018

From 1 January 2019 
Professor Andrew Atherton  
until May 2019

Edinburgh, University 
Professor Peter Mathieson MBBS PhD FRCP FRCPE FMedSci  
until May 2019

Edinburgh Napier University 
Professor Andrea Nolan OBE MVB PhD FRSE MRCVS

Glasgow, University of 
Professor Sir Antonio (Anton) Muscatelli  
MA PhD FRSA FRSE AcSS 
until May 2019

Glasgow Caledonian University 
Professor Pamela Gillies CBE BSc PGCE Med MMedSci 

PhD FRSA FRSE FFPH FAcSS Hon FRCPS (Glasg) 

until May 2019

Heriot-Watt University 
Professor Richard A. Williams OBE, FREng, FTSE,  

BSc (Eng), PhD, CEng, ARSM, DIC, FIMMM, FIChemE, CSc 

until May 2019

Highlands and Islands, University of 
Professor Clive Mulholland BSc, PhD, CSci, FIBMS, 

SFHEA, FRSA 

until May 2019

Queen Margaret University 
Professor Petra Wend PhD FRSA FRSE 
until May 2019

Robert Gordon University 
Professor John Harper BSc PhD FRSC 
until May 2019

St Andrews, University of 
Professor Sally Mapstone MA DPhil

Stirling, University of 
Professor Gerry McCormac BSc PhD 
until May 2019

Strathclyde, University of 
Professor Sir Jim McDonald FREng FRSE FIET FInstP 

until May 2019

West of Scotland, University of 
Professor Craig Mahoney BEd MA PhD TTC CPsychol

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Richard Burns – Chairman (until May 2019)

Dr Alexander Nairn – Chairman (since May 2019)

David Cumming MA

Sir Iain McMillan (until May 2019)

Mr Raymond Perman (since May 2019)

Mark Tyndall BA

Maxwell C B Ward MA

Sarah Whitley (since June 2019)

Donald MacDonald CBE (since June 2019)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Sir Iain McMillan – Chairman (until May 2019)

Professor Nigel Seaton – Chairman (since May 2019)

Mrs Judith Sischy

Lord Eassie

Sir John Grant (since May 2019)

MEMBERS OF STAFF
Secretary and Treasurer
Professor Andy Walker, BA, MSc, PhD, FInstP, FRSE

Administrative Manager
Patricia Krus MA, PhD 

Bursar
Kate Ellis BSc FCA DChA

Grants Officer
John Thompson PhD

Administrator
Sarah Huxtable BA (Hons)

AUDITORS
MHA Henderson Loggie,  
11-15 Thistle Street,  
Edinburgh EH2 1DF

BANKERS
Lloyds Banking Group plc,  
Henry Duncan House,  
120 George Street,  
Edinburgh EH2 4TS

INVESTMENT MANAGERS
Martin Currie Investment Management Ltd,  
Saltire Court, 20 Castle Terrace,  
Edinburgh EH1 2ES

Copies of the Royal Charter and of its By-Laws may be 
obtained from the Secretary of the Trust on payment of a 
reasonable charge. The charity registration number of the 
Trust is SC 015600.
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